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DAY 1 – 29 JUNE 2015 

 

  [10.04 am] 

 

SJH:   Good morning. 5 

 

 Now, firstly it is obvious a great deal of progress has been made 

between the parties for which are very grateful.  Straight to you, 

Ms Scott. 

 10 

MS SCOTT:  Thank you, good morning, sir, and members of the Panel.  Just 

some housekeeping first, sir, have you had an opportunity to read 

through the legal submissions that were filed? 

 

SJH:  Well, they came in this morning so it is a very, very brief read, 15 

obviously.   

 

MS SCOTT: Okay.  In terms of what the submissions set out they are 

essentially a summary of the areas of agreement and disagreement.  

There has been, as you mentioned, a huge amount of work between the 20 

parties, it has been very positive, and the Council wishes to thank all 

the submitters for the approach that they have brought leading up to 

this hearing. 

 

 Just in terms of the Council’s position, sir, on Friday a joint 25 

memorandum of counsel was filed and that records some further 

matters of agreement, a number of the experts entered into further 

informal discussions last week.  So the matters of agreement recorded 

in that memorandum and set out in the attachment to it reflect the 

Council’s position as amended, referring to the rebuttal evidence of 30 

Mr David Falconer.   

 

 Just one other housekeeping matter, sir, there are three expert witnesses 

who are representing different submitters in this hearing and I just 

wanted to - - - 35 

 

SJH:   Sorry, three experts? 

 

MS SCOTT:  Three experts who are providing evidence; one for the Council 

and two for different submitters.  They are Ms Jeanette Ward who is an 40 

expert for the Council.  Her evidence is focused on cycle parking and 

end of trip facilities.  Mr Durdin has provided evidence for Foodstuffs 

and his evidence is focused on a different topic, which is car parking, 

and the matters raised in his evidence have been agreed.  And, finally, 

Ms Ann-Marie Head who has provided evidence for the Port Company 45 

and the Airport, and again her evidence focuses on a different matter 
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which is the high traffic generating rule.  So their evidence is all 

focused on different topics but I just wanted to draw that to your 

attention. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:  Thank you.  If I could turn to the submissions. 

 

SJH:  I suppose I just have one general question reading all of this.  The one, I 

wouldn’t call it a gap because it is mentioned but there doesn’t seem to 10 

be much focus on the centres based approach and how this integrates 

with that and is that going to come up in stage 2 or 3? 

 

MS SCOTT:  No, sir, that has been addressed through the caucusing, the 

conferencing between the witnesses and it really has been a focus on 15 

the integrated traffic assessment requirements. 

 

SJH:  I understand that, but that hasn’t seemed to have been linked in 

specifically, reading the evidence? 

 20 

MS SCOTT:  No, sir. 

 

SJH:  I am just thinking of it in terms of a 32, and 32AA assessment. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Yes, sir.  None of the evidence does focus specifically on the 25 

centres based approach.  I think Mr Falconer’s evidence does touch on 

it in terms of - - - 

 

SJH:  A lot of the evidence touches on it, that is the concern, it touches on and 

given the very significant push for that in the higher order documents, 30 

you think about that. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Yes, sir, and Mr Falconer is here and I am sure he will have 

heard that question and be able to address it in his summary. 

 35 

SJH:  He just needs to cover it off I think. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Okay.  So just if I can take you the introduction just to quickly 

explain the scope of the proposal that is in front of you.  These 

provisions do not apply to the Central City, the provisions for that area 40 

of land are currently covered by the Accessible City which forms part 

of the Central City Recovery Plan and they will come through as part 

of stage 3.   

 

 The transport provisions for the Lyttelton Port have also been separated 45 

and you have heard about that, there is also a recovery plan for the Port.  
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This proposal also doesn’t include the Transport zone, which is a 

stage 2 matter. 

 

 In terms of the key points that this proposal does cover, and I am just 

going to briefly take you through these because they are largely agreed 5 

between the parties.  The proposal reduces minimum car parking 

requirements compared to that currently included in the operative plan 

but it does still include them for specific activities which are those 

located within a commercial zone and/or adjacent roads that are 

identified as a local or neighbourhood Centre in chapter 15. 10 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 And it also excludes minimum car parking standards for activities that 

require a resource consent under rule 7.2.3.10 and that is the one matter 15 

that you will probably hear from the submitters because that is the one 

area of disagreement.   

 

 The Council’s proposal provides parking reduction factors for 

activities, so that allows a reduction in the minimum parking 20 

requirements in some situations.  The proposal requires activities that 

are high trip generators are to seek restricted discretionary resource 

consent and that includes the need to submit an ITA. 

 

 This proposal addresses requirements for access, loading and 25 

manoeuvring standards for various activities.  Those matters have been 

agreed between the experts as has the support for alternative modes of 

transport which includes cycling and public transport. 

 

 The proposal provides for minimum cycle parking requirements for 30 

specific activities and provides requirements for end of trip facilities for 

cycle parking and that is showers but not lockers, and I just record 

there, there is one submitter who hasn’t agreed to that.  Generation 

Zero still seeks the inclusion of a requirement for lockers in the 

proposal. 35 

 

 The proposal specifically provides for the mobility restricted through 

the requirements for mobility parking and, finally, it includes a traffic 

management system that is consistent with the Accessible City 

provisions and that is by supporting the road use hierarchy, providing 40 

continuous routes for cyclists, bus priority measures, and encouraging 

modal choice. 

 

 If I could turn to paragraph 1.4, that just outlines the areas of 

disagreement.  It is largely I think for this hearing a matter of the 45 

evidence that is before you, the legal issues are very limited, but in 
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terms of the activity status the submitters – and when I say “the 

submitters” it is a specific list of submitters who are grouped together 

and I have provided the provisions that are attached to Mr Phillips’ 

evidence, and they seek controlled activity status for what are referred 

to permitted in zone high traffic generating activities that require a 5 

basic ITA.  So it is quite a focused area of disagreement there, it is not 

a wide ranging area of disagreement in terms of controlled versus 

restricted discretionary activity. 

 

 There is some disagreement on the notification of basic permitted in 10 

zone HTGs.  As I mentioned earlier where the minimum parking 

requirements apply to high trip generators there is a remaining area of 

disagreement about the inclusion of assessment of amenity values of 

the surrounding transport network, the extent of assessment of network 

effects and consideration of planned or committed infrastructure. 15 

 

 And then whether quarries in the Rural Quarry zone should provide an 

ITA, that is the one remaining area of disagreement about when an ITA 

should apply. 

 20 

 And, finally, at (g) minimum parking requirements for residential 

activities, that is limited to the submission by the Akaroa Civic Trust.  

That seeks that the parking requirements for residential activities in 

Akaroa are increased. 

 25 

 In section 2, sir, I set out the higher order directions; I am not going to 

take you through those, they are covered in the evidence of the Council 

and in particular Mr David Falconer and Mr Richard Osborne also 

touches on them.   

 30 

 In terms of the statement of expectations, I would just like to draw your 

attention to paragraph 2.8(a) and (b). 

 

 (a) has been the subject of hearings to date but just to draw your 

attention to (b), so that is referring to clause C of the Minister’s 35 

statement of expectations and that is that the plan provides for the 

effective functioning of the urban environment of the Christchurch 

district in response to the transportation changes resulting from the 

earthquakes.  So that is one of the topic specific expectations included 

in the Order in the Council. 40 

 

 So now just to refer to the areas of disagreement and the Council’s 

position on them, the high traffic generator provisions.  Quite a lot is 

agreed, sir, the need for the rule is agreed.  The thresholds for 

integrated traffic assessments, and that is the difference between a basic 45 

and full ITA, they are agreed between the expert traffic engineers and 
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they have been amended through the conferencing to refer to a 

measurable size or threshold rather than a number of vehicles 

movements.  And the activity status in the notification clause for most 

ITAs are agreed as are the majority of assessment matters. 

 5 

  [10.15 am] 

 

 At page 31 of the marked up version a flow diagram has been included 

into the revised proposal and that very helpfully outlines how the ITA 

rule works, the high trip generator rule works.  There is some 10 

difference between – well, a minor difference between the Council’s 

version and the submitters’ version of that flow diagram but that is 

submitted to add clarity to the plan and to help the understanding of 

readers. 

 15 

 So just turning to paragraph 3.6, the issue of activity status.  Council's 

position is that a restricted discretionary activity status is more 

appropriate than controlled, and that the activity status should be 

consistent for all of the high trip generating activities. 

 20 

 At paragraph 3.7, sir, I set out the reasons for that.  The Council’s 

concern is, one of the concerns is related to safety.  Parts of the 

assessment criteria are safety related and if the Council has safety 

concerns with the proposal it has concerns that it may be placed in a 

situation, in terms of its consenting role, where it could be required to 25 

place conditions on the application which negate the application itself 

and that relates to issues such as access to a site.  That is addressed in 

the evidence and you will hear from the witnesses on that.   

 

 In terms of the Crown, in particular the New Zealand Transport 30 

Agency, they have expressed a preference, their experts Mr Clark and 

Ms McLeod, for controlled activity status except where high trip 

generating activities have direct access onto a state highway or across 

railway lines. 

 35 

 The Council’s position in that respect is that the same should apply for 

the wider strategic transport network, which includes major arterial 

roads managed by the Council, and Mr Falconer has worked through 

that in his rebuttal evidence and he will speak to you on that this 

morning. 40 

 

 One of Mr Falconer’s concerns is also that an outcome of only having 

controlled activity status for state highways is in effect of encouraging 

access to high trip generating activities to be loaded on the rest of the 

transport network, including local roads which could affect residential 45 

amenity.   
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 In response to the concern raised by the submitters Mr Falconer has 

made a change to the proposal which essentially provides that activities 

can occur provided effects can be mitigated and previously the policy 

framework referred to “avoided” in that respect.   5 

 

 Turning to paragraph 3.11, sir, I briefly describe the difference between 

the Council and submitters on notification.  It is a refined area of 

difference as well but the Council’s position and how it has reached it 

is submitted to have balanced the desire to reduce notification 10 

requirements, as required by the statement of expectations, against the 

potential adverse effects of high trip generating activities on other 

parties. 

 

 In terms of minimum car parking requirements the submitters and the 15 

Council are largely agreed that minimum car parking requirements are 

appropriate for the activities listed in table 7.2 of the chapter except for 

residential activities which I have already mentioned.   

 

 The Council received a wide range of submissions on minimum car 20 

parking requirements.  Some sought that they be increased and others 

sought that they be reduced.  The Council has economic evidence 

before you on the costs and benefits of minimum parking requirements 

and that is the only economic evidence before you. 

 25 

  [10.20 am] 

 

 Through expert conferencing the traffic engineers have accepted that 

reduced minimum parking requirements are appropriate for certain 

activities, and the Council has essentially taken a middle ground 30 

approach in terms of the submissions that are before you.  So they have 

removed those minimum parking requirements for activities in local 

and neighbourhood centres, and of course for higher trip generating 

activities. 

 35 

 In terms of the latter, the submitters version, which is the one attached 

to Mr Phillips’ evidence, seeks that an integrated traffic assessment will 

only consider parking if there is a non-compliance with the minimum 

parking requirements. 

 40 

 Council’s position is however that the ITA should be fully integrated, 

there should be no minimum parking requirements, and the appropriate 

level of parking forms part of that ITA through the consenting process.   

 

 With your leave, sir, I will just turn briefly to the other remaining areas.  45 

One is whether, and this is at paragraph 3.2.1, whether the quarries in 
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the rural quarry zone should provide an ITA.  There is the higher order 

direction in the RPS for ITAs to be required for substantial 

developments, there is no definition of that, but the Council’s position 

is that ITAs should be required in the rural quarry zone, the rural quarry 

zone is of course a stage 2 zone, but the Council’s concerns relate to 5 

the adverse effects that can be caused by heavy vehicles on roading 

infrastructure and seeks that they are not excluded and there is evidence 

from Mr Ensor for the quarry parties.  But the Council does not dispute 

the importance of quarries to Christchurch, but it just seeks that the 

quarry providers be treated equally to other activities of that size.   10 

 

 In terms of amenity values, Council’s position is that the effects on 

surrounding properties from changes to amenity values should be 

considered as part of an ITA, and to assist with addressing the concerns 

of the submitters, Mr Falconer has proposed a non-notification clause 15 

that relates to where – it links to the vehicle access being within 

250 metres of a residential unit, and the purpose of that is to help 

address the quarry providers concerns in that respect.   

 

 Assessment of network effects and consideration of planned or 20 

committed infrastructure, essentially the submitters seek to distinguish 

between ITAs that should only assess network effects within the 

immediate vicinity of the activity.  The Council’s concern there is what 

those words mean and whether that is adding any certainty to the plan 

on its face.  The Council position is that it is more appropriate that that 25 

be considered through the pre-application meeting process as parties 

work through the ITA.   

 

 In section 4, and sir, this is just to do with the minimum car parking 

requirements and the minor area of dispute at Akaroa, where the 30 

Akaroa Civic Trust seek to increase a number of car parking spaces, 

and that would ultimately be higher than what is required in the rest of 

Christchurch district, including the city.  Council’s position is that is 

not necessary, nor justified.   

 35 

 Sir, in section 5, and I am not going to take you through this, but this is 

an explanation of the issues that have been resolved thanks to the 

productive work of the experts, but essentially they relate to cycle 

parking, end of trip facilities for cycle parking, loading provisions, 

access, manoeuvring and other technical standards, and you will hear 40 

evidence shortly on those matters as well. 

 

 Finally, in paragraph 6, I set out the witnesses that the Council is 

calling.  So unless you have any questions, I will call the Council’s first 

witness. 45 
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SJH:   I will just check.  No, straight to your witness, thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, if I could call Mr Richard Osborne, please. 
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<RICHARD OSBORNE, affirmed [10.25 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [10.25 am] 

 

MS SCOTT: Thank you, if you could confirm that your full name is 

Mr Richard Tankred John Osborne and you have prepared two 

statements of evidence for this proposal? Sorry, I just need to let you 5 

know that I am not feeling too good. 

 

SJH:   Are you all right? Sit down, Ms Scott. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sorry. 10 

 

SJH:   No, it is all right. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Can we take an adjournment please? 

 15 

SJH:   Yes, we will take an adjournment.  You just let us know when you are 

ready. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sure. 

 20 

SJH:   Just with the evidence this morning where there is only Panel questions, 

your junior I am sure can handle that anyway. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay. 

 25 

ADJOURNED [10.26 am] 

 

RESUMED [10.34 am] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Yes? 30 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS SINCLAIR [10.34 am] 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Can I get you to confirm that your full name is Richard 

Tankred John Osborne? 35 

 

MR OSBORNE:    It is. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   That you have prepared a brief of evidence for the transport 

hearing, dated 26 May 2015? 40 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I have.   

 

MS SINCLAIR:   That also incorporates your 18 November 2014 strategic 

directions evidence? 45 
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MR OSBORNE:   It does.   

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Your qualifications and experience are set out in that 

strategic directions evidence – now do you have any corrections to your 

evidence? 5 

 

MR OSBORNE:   No, I don’t.   

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Okay, and so you can confirm that your evidence is true and 

correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 10 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I can. 

 15 

MS SINCLAIR:   Excellent. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you. 20 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:  I guess just a question of - - - 

 25 

MS SINCLAIR:  Sorry, sir, I did forget to mention that Mr Osborne has a 

highlights package to go through, sorry. 

 

SJH:   No, that is fine.  My fault. 

 30 

MR OSBORNE:  Sir and Panel members, by way background I hold the 

position of Transport and Research Unit Manager at Christchurch City 

Council, I have been in this position since November 2012. My 

evidence provides an overview of the transport planning framework 

that has guided and directed the transport proposal of the replacement 35 

district plan. 

 

 I have provided evidence in the strategic directions hearing and rather 

than repeating that evidence, I have adopted it for the purposes of this 

topic specific hearing.   40 

 

 In my opinion the key strategic transport direction for the replacement 

direct plan is the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement.  It provides 

clear policy direction on transport matters and the replacement district 

plan must give effect to it. 45 
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 Transport and land use are closely related and I consider that their 

integration is a fundamental thing, not just of the Canterbury Regional 

Policy Statement, but of the other key documents I have referenced in 

my written evidence.   

 5 

 Land use activities result in the movement of people and goods, 

therefore the location and design of different land uses determines the 

distances people travel and the viability of public transport, cycling and 

walking facilities. Patterns of development that reduce journey 

distances tend to provide greater travel choices.   10 

 

 In addition to the Regional Policy Statement, the Greater Christchurch 

Transport Statement, the Christchurch Transport Strategic Plan and the 

Christchurch Central Recovery Plan are all important due to their local 

relevance and because they have been specifically referenced in action 15 

36 of the Land Use Recovery Plan. 

 

 Transport choice and balancing the network are key themes of the 

Christchurch Transport Strategic Plan, with a focus on promoting 

active travel and public transport. The Christchurch Transport Strategic 20 

Plan also notes that while all transport options support economic 

vitality, freight-journey reliability is of particular importance.  It also 

promotes using the road network more efficiently, land use and 

transport integration and emissions reduction. 

 25 

 I consider modal choice an important concept.  For people to have 

effective choice there needs to be opportunities to walk, cycle, take 

public transport, as well as use private motor vehicles, both reliably and 

safely.  Modal choice is important to reduce the reliance on private 

vehicle use, increase patronage of public transport and active modes 30 

will, in turn, free up the road network for commercial trips. 

 

 The key themes I have derived from the higher order documents are as 

follows: The need to integrate land use and transport, promoting the use 

of public and active transport modes and modal choice, avoiding 35 

reverse sensitivity effects on the strategic transport network and arterial 

roads, avoiding, remedying or mitigating the adverse effects of 

transport use, providing for freight and access to Lyttelton Port of 

Christchurch and Christchurch International Airport Limited, 

optimising use of existing capacity within the network, managing 40 

network congestion, reducing dependency on private motor vehicles 

and travel management, reducing emissions of contaminants to air and 

energy use and safety. 

 

 I have read the evidence of Mr David Falconer and I consider that the 45 

further amendments that he recommends in the 17 June 2015 version of 
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the revised transport proposal, along with the additional changes set out 

in the memorandum filed on 26 June 2015, are consistent with the 

transport documents I have outlined in my strategic directions evidence 

for the following reasons. 

 5 

 The objectives and policies are consistent with the higher end policy 

documents, with an appropriate focus on an integrated transport 

system, transport choice and safety, as well as recognition of the 

positive effects of transport infrastructure.   The road classification 

system distinguishes roads into categories that recognise not only their 10 

movement function, but also considers the adjacent land use, and 

adverse effects are appropriately managed through a suite of rules with 

integrated transport assessments that are fundamental to this approach. 

 

 I am happy to answer any questions. 15 

 

SJH:  Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:  No, thanks. 

 20 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Just one question, possibly two thanks Mr Osborne.  You 25 

have talked about modal choice; to what extent, in your view, does the 

proposal as it is currently been not notified, but agreed between the 

experts, promote choice versus direct particular modes of transport 

compared to others?  Is it enabling across the board or do you think it is 

more enabling in some areas than others, and if so what is the rationale 30 

for that in your view? 

 

MR OSBORNE:  I think the revised transport proposal, as the last version that 

was brought to the Panel’s attention today is a balanced document and 

it does seek to balance the network quite effectively. 35 

 

 The issue we have in Christchurch and throughout New Zealand and, as 

Mr Falconer has pointed from his evidence, is that we have a 

significant number of people getting to and from their place of work in 

particular using private motor vehicles. 40 

 

 There is nothing wrong with that, but what this seeks to do is to enable 

people to have effective choice to travel to and from their place of work 

within Christchurch city in particular and that is one of the things that 

is quite well documented and referred to in the higher end policy 45 

documents to ensure that people do have choice, and our thinking is 
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that certainly if people do have the choice to either walk, wherever the 

place they live is in close proximity to their place of work, cycle, both 

safely and efficiently because that is very important, and take public 

transport, and what we are likely to see if we have appropriate 

infrastructure and an enabling planning environment, is those 5 

percentages creep up. 

 

 I personally don’t think that we are going to have a transformation in 

the sense that all of a sudden all the people that take their cars into 

work are going to start cycling or taking public transport, but one could 10 

expect a reasonable lift in those active and public transport modes, and 

I think the transport proposal, as put to the Panel, provides a good 

balance across that. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  And – this is reflecting my lack of recent knowledge of 15 

Christchurch demographics and how things work – but is there a 

tendency in Christchurch to have cycle-ways or cycle routes integrated 

within the main road network or to separate them so that there is 

presumably a safer, more cycle friendly environment for cyclists to 

use? 20 

 

MR OSBORNE:  So as the Panel may be aware that there is a proposal within 

Christchurch City Council which is supported by funding from the 

New Zealand Transport Agency for what is called the major cycle 

routes, and I think there are 13 in total; that is a 150-odd million dollar 25 

project and certainly the idea is to have those routes separated from 

private vehicles so they are as safe as possible, but they certainly can be 

down main routes as well. 

 

 If you look in the central city, with Tuam Street, which is a busy road, 30 

we have sought to put a separate cycle lane along there, but that is not 

necessarily always the case.   

 

 Certainly the Papanui parallel route, as it is known, is a route from 

Northlands and into the square and that is not using Papanui Road, it is 35 

not using Cranford Street, but is seeking to encourage cyclists to go 

along Grasmere Road I think it is and in between those.  And along that 

route it is anticipated that that would be a separated cycle route.  So we 

take the cyclists off the main roads, which are prioritised for private 

vehicles, or for public transport.   40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right. 

 

MR OSBORNE:   So we reduce the amount of potential conflict. 

 45 

DR MITCHELL:  All right, thank you Mr Osborne.  Thank you, sir. 
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SJH:  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  No questions. 

 5 

SJH:  Just following on from that really, because it is not only the higher order 

documents but it is a laudable aim, but when you talk about active 

transport, you are really talking about an attempt to increase the level 

of active transport significantly within Christchurch, aren’t you? 

 10 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct. 

 

SJH:   And that is changing a culture. 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Yes. 15 

 

SJH:   And changing cultures, you would probably agree, is like turning around 

a super tanker?  So it must remain, in a sense, aspirational, but the Plan 

seeks to encourage it as far as practicable.  Would that be a fair way to 

summarise it? 20 

 

MR OSBORNE:  I think that the aspiration is – I think the key thing within 

Christchurch city is for people to walk to their place of employment 

you want to ensure, and one of the most important things as I referred 

to in my evidence, is for an increased uptake in active modes of 25 

transport, probably one of the key things is urban consolidation. 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

 So the closer people are located to particular facilities, particularly key 30 

activity centres and the central city itself, if people live in close 

proximity to those locations they will tend to take more active modes of 

transport.  It is a very quick, easy, safe; walk, cycle or jump on the bus. 

 

 It may be aspirational but I think in the sense with the recent 35 

announcement of the government funding, the Council funding through 

the Long Term Plan, that we should expect to see an increase in people 

cycling, we should expect to see an increase in people using public 

transport with the amount of money both the Council and the 

government is putting into the central city interchange and Riccarton 40 

bus lounge and Riccarton bus priority. 

 

 So the aspiration under an accessible city and the modelling that was 

done for that particular piece of work envisages a three-fold increase in 

the use of active travel. 45 
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 So while you are starting off from a reasonably low base, the 

anticipation is that it will go up quite a bit within the next 20 to 30 

years.  But yes, you are right, that takes time, it is not going to happen 

overnight.  But with an appropriate policy response in place, with 

appropriate infrastructure, with appropriate education – because people 5 

aren’t just going to jump on major cycle routes if they don’t know that 

they are there and are not educated about them – I think we can get the 

mode shift that we aspire to. 

 

SJH:   So the Council aim is a three-fold increase over what period of time? 10 

 

MR OSBORNE:  Well that is for an accessible city, which is a joint document 

between what is a - - - 

 

SJH:   I just want the period of time that you are aiming for. 15 

 

MR OSBORNE:  I have to check on that Mr Chair, but I think it is a 20 year 

period. 

 

SJH:   Right, thank you.  And from what you said earlier, it is critical that this 20 

integrates with the intensification aims of the Residential chapter? 

 

MR OSBORNE:  That is fundamental; I believe that urban consolidation is 

probably the key thing that this Plan can do to increase the uptake of 

both active and public transport modes. 25 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Ms Sinclair, anything arising? 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   No thank you sir. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Osborne, you may stand down. 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Thank you sir. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.47 am] 35 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Sinclair. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   The Council would now like to call Mr Gregory. 

40 
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<CHRISTOPHER GREGORY, sworn [10.47 am] 
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SJH:   Yes, thank you. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS SINCLAIR [10.47 am] 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Mr  Gregory can I get you to confirm that your full name is 5 

Christopher Michael Edward Gregory? 

 

MR GREGORY:   It is. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   And that you have prepared evidence for this hearing dated 10 

26 May 2015. 

 

MR GREGORY:   I have. 

 

MS SINCLAIR: And that evidence sets out your qualifications and experience. 15 

 

MR GREGORY:   It does. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   And that you rely on your Commercial Industrial evidence, 

dated 13 April 2015, within that evidence? 20 

 

MR GREGORY:   That is correct. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Do you have any corrections to your evidence? 

 25 

MR GREGORY:   No. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Okay, can you confirm your evidence is true and correct to 

the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 30 

MR GREGORY:   It is. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:  Thank you.  And if you would just take the Panel through 

your highlights package please. 

 35 

MR GREGORY:  Thank you, sir.  So my evidence for the transport hearing is 

the fourth piece of evidence I have prepared for the hearing’s Panel and 

in it I refer to my previous evidence for the Subdivision hearing, 

Commercial and Industrial hearing, and my rebuttal evidence for the 

Residential hearing. 40 

 

 My evidence is focused on a high level overview of the current state of 

horizontal infrastructure in the post-earthquake environment, the 

transport planning process, Council’s Long Term Plan process, and the 

requirements of the Local Government Act in terms of providing and 45 

funding infrastructure. 
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 The 2010/2011 earthquakes severely impacted and compromised the 

city’s core horizontal infrastructure.  The SCIRT programme is on 

track for completion by December 2016.  For roading this is a very 

restricted programme due to funding constraints.  And the ongoing 5 

repair and reinstatement of the roading networks to fully address 

earthquake impacts will continue for a further 20 to 30 years. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 10 

 Since the earthquakes, the Council has undertaken significant strategic 

planning with its regional partners to understand the changing pattern 

of settlement and commercial activity.  These changes have resulted in 

the Christchurch Transport Strategic Plan being developed from the 

Land Use Recovery Plan.  This has enabled the identification of the 15 

highest priorities for transport infrastructure over the coming decade to 

form the Long Term Plan and the Regional Land Transport Plan. 

 

 As well as roading improvements, these priorities include a programme 

of work to encourage modal shifts to passenger transport and cycling to 20 

provide congestion relief in the city’s arterial networks.   

 

 In the coming decade it has planned to send around $800 million of the 

$1.5 billion core infrastructure capital programme, on transport 

activities.  This includes over $200 million on the major cycle ways 25 

programme and passenger transport improvements.  However the 

majority of the expenditure will be on the improvements to the arterial 

road network. 

 

 The Council is reliant on a significant funding income from the 30 

National Land Transport Fund administered by the New Zealand 

Transport Agency.  On the majority of this roading programme these 

funds provide for around 50 percent of the cost of each project.  To 

access these funds the Council has to go through a rigorous assessment 

process with its regional partners to develop the Regional Land 35 

Transport Plan.  This plan is then considered nationally alongside the 

government’s policy statement on transport funding before the National 

Fund is allocated every three years.   

 

 This is a parallel process to the long term plan I have referred to in 40 

detail in previous evidence, and ensures that our transport networks are 

consistent across territorial boundaries and the funding is prioritised to 

deliver national safety and efficiency objectives. 

 

 The LTP and Annual Plan processes are sufficiently flexible to provide 45 

for any changes that may be required as a consequence of development.  
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The same applies to the Regional Land Transport Plan that is formally 

reviewed every six years.   

 

 As we have seen in recent years, traffic patterns can change relatively 

quickly. Staff have to react by adjusting key modal routes in 5 

collaboration with their transport partners at ECan and New Zealand 

Transport Agency.  A good example of this is the major cycle ways 

programme where consultation is resulting in modifications to route 

details to address concerns raised. 

 10 

 Thus, I agree with Mr Falconer in his evidence that it would be 

constraining to fix these routes in the Proposed Replacement District 

Plan. 

 

 Thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 20 

SJH:  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  I just want to understand the connection 

between the figures that you have presented in paragraph 3.3, where 

you talk about an overall transport programme includes $208 million of 25 

cycling and public transport projects, and then in paragraph 4.7, where 

you talk about major cycle ways, routes, the programme that 

Mr Osborne also referred me to, are those matters overlapping to some 

degree or are they completely separate funding streams that - - - 

 30 

MR GREGORY:  So the $156 million is specifically for the major cycle ways 

programme, and that is embedded within the $208 million overall 

programme for the modal shift, so public transport and cycling 

improvements. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   So the $208 includes the $156? 

 

MR GREGORY:  It does, yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Right.  Thank you.  What proportion of that funding is 40 

NZTA funded as opposed to money that the Council raises and spends? 

 

MR GREGORY:  So in terms of the major cycle ways programme, as you have 

just heard from Mr Osborne, the government has a $100 million fund 

that is specifically allocated through a certain cycle ways programme to 45 

encourage urban centres in New Zealand to develop cycle ways, and 
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that particular fund is allocated on a one-third, one-third, one-third 

basis.  On Friday there was a government announcement that the first 

tranche of projects were approved from that fund.  In round terms, the 

City Council has been advised that it has received $20 million from that 

fund, it also receives a further $20 million from the New Zealand 5 

Transport Agency, so for the first $65 million worth of projects in that 

fund, the Council input is, give or take, around $20 million. 

 

 Normally in a programme of work such as that, so long as the projects 

we put up meet the national criteria, we would receive around about 10 

50 percent of funding assistance from government for the bits that 

comply with the national objectives. 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Just finally, and this may reflect my, 

again, lack of on-the-ground knowledge, but just looking at the 

newspaper headlines over the last couple of weeks, the northern arterial 

has featured in some of those headlines and in particular the Council’s 

decision not to proceed, at least as I understand it, with the Cranford 20 

Street connection to that.  (a) what’s the reason for that, and (b) what’s 

the implications of that for the overall – because presumably that’s 

happened since you wrote your evidence, and what changes that makes 

to the overall analysis that you have presented? 

 25 

MR GREGORY:  So I mean in terms of the reason for that, that was a decision 

that Council made on Friday in adopting its long term plan. The 

northern arterial route is a corridor from the Waimakariri Bridge all the 

way through to Cranford Street.  New Zealand Transport Agency are 

doing the first bit, which is the motorway upgrade between the bridge 30 

and QEII Drive, and that project, as far as I am aware, is still going 

ahead. 

 

 The Council part of the project was to deal with the ongoing 

downstream effects from QEII Drive through to Cranford Street, so the 35 

implications of Council’s decision on Friday are twofold.  Firstly, they 

resolve to revisit that issue next year in its annual planning process.  

Currently the project is going through the hearings for a notice of 

requirement, so at this stage we don’t know the outcome of that.  It will 

mean that traffic will distribute in a different manner beyond QEII 40 

Drive.   

 

 So in the original plan it was going to have a link between there and 

Cranford Street, as a result of the decision on Friday the motorway will 

stop at QEII Drive and traffic will either go left or right and some of it 45 
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will go, as it always was going round, so the freight will continue round 

to the port and round the state highway route. 

 

 Traffic that is coming into the city will choose other routes; some local 

streets, some will stay on Main North Road, some will probably stay on 5 

the Marshland Road route, we will now need to go through a planning 

process to 2019, which is when NZTA are planning to finish their 

motorway upgrade, in terms of how we address those downstream 

impacts within the funding that’s allowed in the overall LTP. 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   Was there a staff recommendation provided to the 

councillors on Friday in relation to the Cranford Street extension? 

 

MR GREGORY:  Not on Friday, sir, no. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   Or prior to that? Was that informed by staff analysis or was 

it, what you might colloquially call a political decision only? 

 

MR GREGORY:  Throughout the whole long term plan process staff have 

advised on the need for the route as a continuous route through, and in 20 

the Council meeting of Wednesday last week, that was further 

reinforced by Mr Mike Theelan and myself about the need for the 

joined up route, so a decision was made in an environment where the 

planning background to the project was advised to Council. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   So it was a political decision rather than a technical one on 

staff recommendation, just so I am clear. 

 

MR GREGORY:  It was a decision by the councillors. 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   By the councillors? 

 

MR GREGORY:  Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Given that the higher level transport strategy documents that 35 

both you and Mr Osborne have referred to, do they hinge to any 

significant extent on that extension being part of the long term 

proposal? 

 

MR GREGORY: Certainly the Christchurch Strategic Plan shows the route 40 

coming through, in the freight part it shows the motorway going 

through to QEII Drive, but the Christchurch Transport Strategic Plan 

identifies that northern corridor route as part of the strategic network 

for Christchurch, yes. 

 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   So if there is no political change of heart, and I take what 

you said before that it is being revisited in the annual plan process next 

year, but assuming money remains tight and that funding isn’t made 

available, does that mean that the higher order transportation strategies 

need to be substantially revisited, or is that overstating it? 5 

 

MR GREGORY:  Well, it would certainly have to consider the implications 

through to revisiting the decision in the annual plan process next year.   

 

DR MITCHELL:  But if it didn’t happen, if the status quo remained in terms of 10 

the councillor views, does that leave the existing strategic document 

stranded or do they pretty much remain intact with a bit of a work 

around in place? 

 

MR GREGORY:  I don’t believe it leaves it stranded. This is a decision in 15 

terms of funding in the coming 10 years, but the need for that particular 

route, which is the background to the strategic plan, still exists and 

would form the basis of our advice to Council. 

 

  [11.00 am] 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, M  Gregory. 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 25 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Just to coming back to that, the questions of Dr Mitchell.  We heard a lot 

of evidence in both residential and commercial and industrial about the 

need for the Northern Arterial and the route right through which was to 30 

continue right through to Bealey Avenue, was it not? 

 

MR GREGORY:   The project continues as far as Innes Road in terms of down 

Cranford Street and the upgrade to Cranford Street.  At Innes Road the 

traffic distributes across the network such that continuing it all the way 35 

to Bealey Avenue wasn’t seen as being necessary in the immediate 

future. 

 

SJH:   So in isolation the Northern Arterial no longer integrates as it should? 

 40 

MR GREGORY:  The piece that New Zealand Transport Agency will be 

constructing in terms of the motorway will still provide some 

congestion relief on Main North Road and Marshlands Road. 
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SJH:   I understand that but that was not my question, would you answer my 

question please.  It is not integrated any longer with the Christchurch 

City’s bit because nothing is going to be done? 

 

MR GREGORY:   It is not as fully integrated as was planned in the strategic 5 

plan, that is correct. 

 

SJH:   So does that mean we need to revisit, because we were told with 

confidence by everybody, and I think including the Council witnesses, 

some of the matters we heard in residential and commercial and 10 

industrial?  Including your own evidence? 

 

MR GREGORY:   That is correct, sir. 

 

SJH:   So we need to reconvene those hearings, do we? 15 

 

MR GREGORY:   I couldn’t say whether you need, I would have to have a 

look - - - 

 

SJH:   Well, doesn’t the Council need to think about that and give us some very 20 

urgent advice given this dramatic change? 

 

MR GREGORY:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Sinclair, I am sorry to put that on you, but it has happened very 25 

quickly. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   No, that is fine. 

 

SJH:   But that needs to be addressed because it seems to impact on virtually all 30 

of the north-western development that we heard about in those two 

chapters and whether they remain viable. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   No, I understand the concern. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you, anything from the Panel’s questions? 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down. 40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.02 am] 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   And if I can now call Mr Roberts please. 

45 
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<PAUL JAMES ROBERTS, affirmed [11.02 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SINCLAIR [11.03 am] 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Can you please confirm your full name is Paul James 

Roberts? 

 5 

MR ROBERTS:   It is. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   And you have prepared a brief of evidence-in-chief dated 

26 May 2015, which sets out your qualifications and experience and 

also rebuttal evidence dated 17 June 2015? 10 

 

MR ROBERTS:   I have. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Do you have any corrections to your evidence? 

 15 

MR ROBERTS:   I do.  Sir, I have three small corrections to my evidence-in-

chief and one to my rebuttal statement.  Evidence-in-chief, page 6, 

paragraph 2.1(a)(2) refers to matters of discretion 7.3.2, if you could 

strike out the 2, and that should be 7.3.1.   

 20 

 On my appendices, which is at page 43, appendix D1, if you could just 

strike out the D1 and call that D2 and the reference - - - 

 

SJH:   I am sorry, where? 

 25 

MR ROBERTS:   If you go to the end of my evidence, so there is a coloured - - 

- 

 

SJH:   This is under 3.7 other issues? 

 30 

MR ROBERTS:   This is my evidence-in-chief and it is actually following 

page 42, there is a coloured diagram.  It is headed “Attachment D1”. 

 

SJH:   Well, page 43 that we have is not headed “D1”, it seems to be part of the 

expert conferencing. 35 

 

MR ROBERTS:   Evidence-in-chief, 26.   

 

MR SINCLAIR:   Mine reads the same as that, 57. 

 40 

MR ROBERTS:   It should be a coloured diagram like that, that is correct.  

Commissioner Huria has - - - 
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  [11.05 am] 

 

SJH:   Well, that is after page 56 in our evidence. 

 

MR ROBERTS:   I do apologise.   5 

 

SJH:   So, yes, what is the change there? 

 

MR ROBERTS:   The change there that instead of the (1) that should be (2), 

the reference. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR ROBERTS:   And then the following page attachment D, (2), if you could 

change the (2) to the (2) and attachment D1 is D3 rather on the 15 

following page marked “Aggregation of areas within strategic transport 

models” that should be (1).   

 

SJH:   Thank you.   

 20 

MR ROBERTS:   And then just a final correction to my rebuttal statement at 

page 4, if you could strike out the first footnote marked 4 and the 

reference to that at bullet point 2.2(d). 

 

MS HURIA:   I am sorry, could I have that last one again please? 25 

 

MR ROBERTS:   Yes, sure.  On page 4 at the bottom there is two footnotes 

marked 4 so if you could strike out the first one please and the 

reference to that at bullet point 2.2(d).  That is the end of my 

corrections. 30 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   And with that, Mr Roberts, you can confirm that your 

evidence is true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 

MR ROBERTS:   I can. 35 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Excellent.  If you could take the Panel through your 

highlights package please. 

 

MR ROBERTS:   Thank you.  The particular parts of the proposal that my 40 

evidence relates to are the high trip generator rule 7.2.3.10 and the 

minimum number of car parks required, rule 7.2.3.1.   

 

 Regarding integrated transport assessment, or ITA for short, an ITA is 

simply a report most often prepared by a suitably qualified professional 45 

on behalf of the developer which assesses the transport effects of a 
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proposal.  An ITA may form part of an application for consent to 

provide factual assessment and professional opinion on the transport 

related environmental effects and related merits of the development 

proposal.   

 5 

 Under the latest proposal an ITA is triggered where there is a high trip 

generator activity.  HTGs have the potential to undermine the safe, 

efficient and effective operation of the transport network and the HTG 

rule is just simply about ensuring an appropriate level of assessment is 

conducted and considered to ensure that these potential transport 10 

effects are appropriately mitigated.   

 

 The HTG rule is of particular importance to ensure integration of land 

use and infrastructure, not least because Council simply does not have 

the ability to be able to forecast and anticipate the scale and particular 15 

nature of all activities in combination that may potentially eventuate 

under its proposed general zoning provision at the level of detail and 

accuracy necessary to ensure these potential effects are appropriately 

managed.  Activities with high traffic generation have a far greater 

potential impact on the transport network.   20 

 

 The notified HTG rule requires provision of two levels of ITAs 

depending on the scale of the activity basic and full.  And following 

considerations of submissions, further submissions and extensive 

caucusing and mediation the Council is now proposing an amended 25 

HTG rule within their latest proposal.   

 

 In my opinion the amended HTG rule will achieve (a) improved 

legibility through amending the base measurement of the notified 

thresholds to floor space for a range of common activities.  It will 30 

enable a reduction in consenting requirements as the HTG threshold for 

permitted activities has effectively been doubled compared to the 

operative plan. 

 

 It clearly and more simply expresses assessment matters being better 35 

tailored to both the scale and location of the activities and their 

potential effects with a number of assessment matters being reviewed 

from 21 to no more than eight.  And there will be easier navigation for 

plan users through a flow diagram which now clearly shows the 

amended HTG process proposed. 40 

 

 A key concern raised by submitters is that there is no minimum car 

parking requirements for HTGs nor within ITAs even though car 

parking generally is a factor to consider in an ITA.  I will move on to 

consider minimum car parking requirements generally however first I 45 

will address this; for HTG provisions I consider that minimum car 
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parking requirements are not appropriate because there is an increased 

risk for larger activities that their application, even with the parking 

reduction adjustment factors applied, may lead to more significant 

under or over supply.   

 5 

 With car parking requirements considered through an ITA process, as 

Council proposes, car parking for larger activities can be tailored more 

appropriately to the actual need with benefits for the developer, their 

neighbours and the wider public. 

 10 

  [11.10 am] 

 

 Car parking is of course essential to support the private vehicle travel.  

They can be expensive to provide, by virtue of the large amounts of 

space that it can consume, and Mr Nunn, in his evidence, has estimated 15 

that the average opportunity cost of a single oversupplied car park 

serving commercial activity is likely to be around $17,000 in 

Christchurch. 

 

 So over provision of parking can therefore lead to the costs of the 20 

development community, inefficiency in the use of resources.  It can 

stimulate vehicle travel and contribute to congestion and undermine 

moves to encourage more consolidated urban form, ultimately leading 

to increased cost to all. 

 25 

 However under the provision of parking can also create issues.  The 

provision of appropriate minimum parking requirements can help to 

limit potential adverse effects of activities on the safety and efficiency 

of the road network, and in some locations a loss of amenities 

surrounding residents.  In my view, car parking should be managed by 30 

minimum carpark requirements for some activities, but with a 

mechanism to reduce these in certain situations.   

 

 The latest proposal does provide for minimum car parking standards 

but with two important exceptions.  One, as we have heard, activities 35 

located within a commercial zone and/or adjacent roads but are 

identified within local or neighbourhood centres, or activities that 

require a resource consent under the HTG provisions. 

 

 It is important, I feel, to recognise that no developer is required to 40 

apply the parking reduction adjustment factors, now proposed within 

appendix 7.14.  They may choose to provide more than the minimum 

car parking standards.   

 

 I do acknowledge that there are some associated pitfalls, for example 45 

whenever an automatic reduction in car parking is provided for, this 
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may generate the risk that some activities, singularly or cumulatively, 

may not provide the actual car parking demand on their own site.  This 

may then create pressure through reliance upon the on-site parking 

resource of neighbouring activities and/or on-street parking where this 

is available.   5 

 

 But while however acknowledging these risks, on balance I consider 

that the targeted minimum car parking standards in the latest proposal 

will provide an appropriate balance between the potential benefits, 

disbenefits and costs given the reductions proposed within the amended 10 

rule for non-HTG activities. 

 

 The amended minimum car parking rule is likely to have the following 

benefits; it is more enabling, providing the opportunity through a 

potential reduction in car parking spaces, to achieve more development 15 

on a given site area.  It will provide greater incentive to locate in areas 

with better access to public car parking and for alternative modes 

because parking reduction factors will then be available to the 

developer.  And it will assist in moving towards a reduction in land 

resource devoted to parking. 20 

 

 In my opinion these amendments will have a range of benefits, not least 

offering greater encouragement for some developments to locate in 

areas that will reduce reliance on private motor vehicles and thereby 

promote greater efficiency and sustainability. 25 

 

 In conclusion, I believe that the changes now proposed to the two rules 

I have been asked to consider will give effect to the statements of 

expectations and objectives and policies, including strategic directions 

within the proposal. 30 

 

 I am happy now to take any questions you may have. 

 

SJH:  Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 35 

MS HURIA:   No thank you. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Can I refer you please to your rebuttal statement, in 40 

particular to your attachment one.  I am not sure if your page 

numbering is the - - - 

 

MR ROBERTS:   I have it as page 23, sir. 

 45 

SJH:   Yes we do too. 
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DR MITCHELL:   Sorry, now I just had that page and I have lost it, if you can 

just bear with me for a moment while I retrieve it.  Under heading C in 

that table you talk about consented projects, where there is been 

arguably a poor outcome that has arisen.  Can you just explain in a little 5 

bit more detail what the bad outcome is and what the good outcome 

would have been, and the difference between the two, just briefly? 

 

MR ROBERTS:   Sure, very briefly.  Well I have given four examples under 

there and obviously these activities are all consented, they are all 10 

operating in a certain manner now, so I appreciate that it is debatable, 

whether they are poor outcomes or not, these are what I believe are 

poor outcomes though. 

 

 The first relates to a New World, which is a supermarket located in 15 

Stanmore Road where an additional access is being proposed there 

which is, I appreciate, is great for customers but it is onto a collector 

road that is actually more carrying traffic more like at a minor arterial 

level, in terms of the level of its use.  And so there is been marginal 

improvements to accessibility to the site but in my view at the cost of 20 

an increased inefficiency on the road and increased risk. 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   What would the solution have been if you were - - - 25 

 

MR ROBERTS:   At that particular site to stick to the site access arrangements 

that had been in place for 15 years.  It had quite reasonable access.  

And so one of those was, one access was off a local road and it had an 

entry only direct off the main road. 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So in that circumstance then, presumably it would have 

been open to the Council to say, “Your consent’s granted to do 

whatever it is you want to do with your new supermarket provided that 

you don’t use this access way and that you restrict it to the current 35 

access arrangements”. 

 

MR ROBERTS:   That’s right sir, which was the previous decision on various 

consents. 

 40 

DR MITCHELL:   And, we don’t need to go through this in great detail but is 

that a similar situation in relation to 9? 

 

MR ROBERTS:   Yes, all of these are slightly different given their particular 

circumstances, which I guess is the point of having a HTG rule. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   Would it be fair to say that the outcome in each of those 

was a matter that said, “What is being proposed is not fatally flawed 

from a traffic point of view, there is just a disagreement between 

somebody from the Council and the proponent as to whether that was 

the best fit or no”;  Is that a fair statement? 5 

 

MR ROBERTS:   I think that is fair.  It’s, yes, around the margins. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So if they are poor outcomes and they have been consented, 

why would, if you are involved and if you know, why would the 10 

Council have granted consent on the terms that it has, if presumably it 

had the ability to say no or to modify that by way of conditions? 

 

MR ROBERTS:   Because on technical matters there are obviously different 

views and each of these cases actually does differ but quite often those 15 

technical arguments might be put to a Commissioner who makes a 

recommendation, and a decision in some circumstances. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But each of those, you have said that they are not good 

outcomes.  If you had been the traffic engineer on those particular 20 

projects - - - 

 

MR ROBERTS:   That’s right. 

 

DR MITCHELL: - - - and you were making a decision, as opposed to 25 

somebody else, you would have granted consent to each of those 

proposals but with different conditions relating to access or traffic 

management. 

 

MR ROBERTS:   Absolutely sir.  I was only involved in one of these actually 30 

but that is entirely the case. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Given that, I am intrigued then, when you go to paragraph 

5.7 of your rebuttal statement, which is a cross-reference to that 

attachment.  And you have said, and it seems to be a bit of a common 35 

thread from Council witnesses through the hearing generally, that 

controlled activities don’t give sufficient, and you have been as bold as 

to call it “leverage”, to address the concerns that were available through 

a restricted discretionary application. 

 40 

 Given what you have said in your answers though about, they were 

matters of detail that could have been dealt with by conditions, and 

given that it is the Council that proposes or that sets those conditions, 

what is the basis on, or what is the rationale that you have used for that 

final sentence in paragraph 5.7? 45 
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MR ROBERTS:  Well you are correct, sir, in terms of, the word leverage, is 

fairly bold but I do believe that it is appropriate.  For example, where 

Council may have safety concerns, there may be certain cases where it 

would seek to impose a condition, for example would place an access 

in an alternative location and in a safer location.  But if it doesn’t have 5 

the ability, which it has rarely if ever used, to decline a consent, then it 

simply that condition might be seen as frustrating their concerns and 

thereby of course be illegal, or it might not be, the developer may not 

prefer that and simply tell the Council “no”. 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   But none of the examples that you have quoted about where 

these so called bad outcomes have arisen have faced that problem have 

they? 

 

  [11.20 am] 15 

 

MR ROBERTS: No that is right.  Those have been as a result of where 

Council’s technical advisors may have preferred a different outcome 

but that wasn’t shared by the decision maker. 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:  And I suppose finally, and I don’t mean this is a pejorative 

way, but as a traffic specialist what does it matter to you whether 

activity status is controlled or otherwise, and on what basis are you able 

to give us any advice about that that we can really have much regard to 

given that as you say it is either a legal or perhaps a planning question 25 

and you are neither of those.  So why have you expressed a view on it 

at all? 

 

MR ROBERTS:  Correct, sir. My expertise is in transportation, I am not a 

planning matter and I’m sure Mr Falconer would be better qualified.  I 30 

have made a statement on it because I am concerned about transport 

outcomes, which are directly related to the technical matters and of 

course the framework that the Plan gives it through planning matters. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So the planners told you that that is what you should do?  35 

So is that a planning position that the Council takes as opposed to being 

your opinion? 

 

MR ROBERTS:   No, this is absolutely my opinion and my concerns regarding 

the implications of activity status.  I am, throughout 20 years, either 40 

with the Council directly or not, you know I have had involvement with 

many developments and the HTG restricted discretionary activity 

within the Operative Plan has been there all of that time I think.  It is of 

quite fundamental importance to ensure that the effects are mitigated 

and we basically retain efficiency and safety on the road network for 45 

the whole community. 
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DR MITCHELL:  All right, thank you.  And just finally, how well has the 

Operative Plan served overall car parking needs of development across 

the city in the time that it’s been operative? Has it demonstrably 

worked well or has it demonstrably worked badly in respect of 5 

oversupply or undersupply? 

 

MR ROBERTS:  I think it has been a fairly blunt instrument, which all MPRs 

are and there has been a tendency towards oversupply and therefore 

some inefficiency in the use of land. We could have had more 10 

development on the same land area and used it more efficiently in that 

way, so I think that is my observation of the principal outcomes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And that is a cost that the developer has had to bear either 

by way of direct cost or lost opportunity as opposed to imposing costs 15 

on the roading network itself or on the Council, is that fair? 

 

MR ROBERTS:  I think that is the principle, cost is borne by the developer, 

particularly because it is such a crude thing and often the proposals are 

tailored to the MPRs rather than the actual requirements but really the 20 

whole community ultimately bears the cost of travel that doesn’t need 

to occur or is encouraged to occur and essential trips effectively get 

penalised. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you Mr Roberts, thank you sir. 25 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes I do sir.  So Mr Roberts, with respect to high trip 

generation rule, and let us take an example where it triggers a full ITA, 30 

and let us assume it is either a mall or some commercial space with a 

parking requirement, in the past the minimum car parking requirement 

would have stipulated the amount of parking that is going to be used 

for that activity. 

 35 

 The thing that is interest there is to what degree, what degree of 

evidence would a developer have to give in an ITA, to support the 

amount of parking that they require and how is that balanced against 

the obvious commercial benefits of developable space? So I see a 

potential conflict from a developer’s point of view, understanding that 40 

unless people can park they can’t use the facility, but there is that 

balance of commercial space versus car parking space, and how does 

the ITA create the right result? 

 

  [11.25 am] 45 
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 I accept the premise that oversupply is a bad thing and undersupply is a 

bad thing, but I can’t fully understand how the ITA is going to deliver 

the right result because you do have the opposing views of Council 

versus developer? 

 5 

MR ROBERTS:   Sure, well the Council is certainly not anti-car parking, what 

it is, is pro-centres and we had the question of clarification early on in 

that because of the range of benefits that that creates.  With specific 

reference to your question, the malls around Christchurch of course are 

not all built equally and they are in different locations, they are on 10 

difference scales, they actually – some have different catchments. 

 

 So the parking requirements at some of the different malls are different 

and what at ITA provides for is the opportunity to have something 

targeted to the specific circumstances of location, the degree of public 15 

transport to a particular mall for example, so your Westfield mall and 

your Northlands mall are not going to be the same as say, Barrington 

mall or New Brighton mall, certainly.  So the amounts of parking that 

each of those requires will differ.   

 20 

 And you are correct, it is certainly in the developer’s interest and in fact 

the community’s interest that the amount of parking at each of those 

sites is tailored appropriately and there is not an under-provision or 

over-provision of parking, and it is to the developer’s benefit that they 

provide the right amount too and that they don’t have wasted space or, 25 

you know, you want to get the most efficient bang for your buck for the 

site area.  Have I answered your question? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  In part, I think you have.  However it seems to me 

that there is a potential for disagreement, for reasons of commercial 30 

versus the Council’s view of how much parking would be required, and 

public transport location is an important factor obviously in parking, 

but use is also important.  And you know if the use isn’t, if it’s not fully 

utilised and people continue to drive cars and yet you have assessed the 

amount of parking on the basis that the transport is there, it might result 35 

in an under supply.   

 

 I just see some potential for conflict and I certainly don’t have the 

answers, I am seeking to find the answers on that? 

 40 

MR ROBERTS:  No, frankly in my experience, and I have been involved with 

a number of malls and developments assessments for malls, around 

particularly in Christchurch, it is not often that there is an under-supply 

at the malls because of the commercial interest in providing an 

appropriate things – so it tends to be matters around the design of those 45 

facilities and making them more user friendly than perhaps initial plans 
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might provide for, and safe and efficiencies of the access is not often, 

in my experience, that under-supply has created any issues from 

Council’s perspective. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So your view would be that the over-supply situation 5 

has been brought about by minimum car parking requirements? 

 

MR ROBERTS:  Not particularly at malls.  I think in that particular example I 

don’t think that there is massive oversupply or anything like that at 

malls. 10 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay thank you. 

 

SJH:   Just following on from Mr Illingsworth, part of the question, I didn’t 

hear you answer it, and that was to inquire as to what level of evidence 15 

would a developer have to give in an ITA to get the right answer?  

What would Council be seeking in the ITA? 

 

MR ROBERTS:   Well quite often it is evidence that the developer would have 

readily at hand anyway in terms of the, you know they monitor the 20 

demand at their own particular site and that is generally the best 

evidence available.  Where you have new cases of course then you 

refer to size and in similar situations. 

 

 Parts of the problem with the blunt instrument, the MPRs, is, you have 25 

probably read in the evidence, is that there is high variability for 

particular sites and circumstances but with a sound assessment 

effectively you focus on appropriate sites to give you more confidence 

that you’re in the right ballpark.  So the evidence that they have to 

provide really is part of the due diligence effectively that you would 30 

want, if I was paying for the parking, I would want to have that done 

anyway. 

 

SJH:    Okay, thank you.  Ms Sinclair, anything arising? 

 35 

MS SINCLAIR:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Roberts, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.30 am] 40 

 

SJH:   And we will take the morning adjournment for 15 minutes.  Thank you. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.30 am] 

 45 

RESUMED [11.51 am] 
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SJH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Sinclair.  Just before we go on, Mr Allen, that whole 

question of the northern arterial and such like that was raised earlier, I 

know it is probably Ms Brown for the Crown as well, but we do need to 

hear something about it from the NZTA perspective and the potential 5 

impact it is going to have. 

 

MR ALLEN:  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:    It does seem to me to flow over into two chapters, dramatically effects 10 

two chapters we have already heard, quite extraordinary. 

 

MR ALLEN: Thank you, sir. During the adjournment I spoke with 

Mr Carranceja, and Cedric is looking at that now and we will be talking 

with the Council as well. 15 

 

SJH:    Good, thank you very much.  Yes, Ms Sinclair? 

 

MS SINCLAIR:  Yes, sir, and I can confirm that the message has also gone 

back to the Council and Mr Winchester.   I would like to call Mr Lloyd, 20 

please? 
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<WARREN LLOYD, affirmed [11.52 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SINCLAIR [11.52 am] 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Can you please confirm that your full name is Warren Keith 

Lloyd? 

 5 

MR LLOYD:   Yes.   

 

MS SINCLAIR:  That you have prepared evidence-in-chief dated 26 May 

2015, which sets out your qualifications and experience, and you have 

also prepared rebuttal evidence dated 17 June 2015? 10 

 

MR LLOYD:   I did. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Do you have any corrections to that evidence? 

 15 

MR LLOYD:   No. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:  Okay, and so you can confirm that evidence is true and 

correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 20 

MR LLOYD:   Yes. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:  If you can now take the Panel through your highlights 

package please? 

 25 

MR LLOYD:   Thank you.  Thank you, Panel. 

 

 I have provided evidence for the Council relating to loading provisions, 

the use of standards, form access widths, gradients and manoeuvring, 

site lines and surfacing.  In my view the Council’s latest proposal 30 

reflects an increased use of recognised technical engineering standards 

and the continued use of rules to facilitate land development in 

Christchurch compared to that of the operative city plan. 

 

 I consider the transport proposal provides increased safety and an 35 

increased accessibility by the intended design vehicles, their drivers 

and the general public.   

 

 The various loading, use of standards, form access widths, gradients 

and manoeuvring, site lines and surfacing issues raised in submissions 40 

have been resolved through information mediation, expert conferencing 

and evidence.   

 

 I support the Council’s current proposal because under the proposal 

certain activities can have more or less loading spaces as appropriate to 45 
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their expected use.  This provides the applicant with more flexibility to 

accommodate and reflect their intended site use and operation. 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 5 

 Further, loading should be provided on the site unless there is a suitable 

and appropriate alternative off site.  An example of this could include 

on street loading if the loading zone can be shown to be safe and 

appropriate for staff and the general public.   

 10 

 Regarding standards, ASNZS 2890.1, that is the Australian and 

New Zealand standard for off street parking that is used for parking 

access and design. This standard is appropriate for queuing, 

manoeuvring, guidance on column and other obstruction placement and 

off sets within parking buildings and access and ramp gradients.   15 

 

 Increases in the maximum form widths to accommodate design vehicle 

swept paths where appropriate, the requirement is site specific and 

vehicle specific to ensure that only sites with the largest design vehicles 

that are not on key pedestrian frontages are permitted, the increased 20 

formation widths. 

 

 Reverse manoeuvring on to a road is a fundamental key safety risk and 

the operative and proposed rule limits this occurrence of vehicles 

reversing out onto the busy collector and minor and major arterial 25 

roads.   

 

 The latest plan retains the use of the NZTA pedestrian planning design 

guide 2009 guidance for site lines and visibility splays to provide 

suitable and safe inter visibility between drivers and pedestrians on 30 

drive ways.   

 

 Also that not all parking surfaces are required to be sealed.  The district 

plan contains assessment matters for permeable surfaces, such as are 

they suitable, acceptable and appropriate for the intended use and users.  35 

This introduces another surfacing option for the applicant and also 

provides the need to reduce point loading of rain water into the storm 

water system or river network, thus mitigating flood events and 

providing a wider community and environmental benefit. 

 40 

 In my view, the transport proposal provides more flexibility to 

applicants and is more accommodating of the development needs.   

 

 Many of the proposed parting and access dimensions and requirements 

are standards based, which means the applicants can use these same 45 

standards for informing their assessment matters.  This increased use of 
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assessment matters will allow the applicant to reflect their site needs 

and operational requirements when making application.   

 

 A benefit of this is sites can be developed safely and efficiently without 

negative impacts on the street network and possibly without triggering 5 

resource consent.  This has a potential to save considerable time and 

money. 

 

 Thank you. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:  Thank you, sir.  Yes, is it morning, only just Mr Lloyd.  Just a 

quick question about permeable surfaces in your paragraph 5.2; how is 

the acceptability, or suitability, of the permeable surface agreed?  Have 15 

I missed that somewhere? 

 

MR LLOYD:  I have not been involved in the decision on how that is going to 

be agreed.  What it does is it provides an option that an applicant can 

say, “Look, I don’t want to seal this car park for XYZ reasons, this is 20 

what I am proposing to do”, and if it meets the discharge criteria for 

environmental and other network constraints, that will be up to the 

Council to decide.  I haven’t been involved with the rules around that. 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay.  So there may not be guidelines for developers, it may be 25 

try and see how you go? 

 

MR LLOYD:   Well, there will be products on the market that you can use for 

surfacing or it might even be a temporary car park that they only want 

to use for a weekend or a month, or something like that.  So it puts that 30 

as an assessment matter so they don’t just have to do the sealing. 

 

MS HURIA:   Just a point of clarification, so if it is permeable, does that mean 

that the storm water sinks through it? 

 35 

MR LLOYD:   Yes, and that is only appropriate in some locations.  There are 

certain locations around the city where you are not permitted to have 

the storm water going into the ground water. 

 

MS HURIA:   I see, all right. 40 

 

MR LLOYD:    So there will be rules around where you can and can’t do it and 

that will be the first one. 
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  [12.00 pm] 

 

MS HURIA:  Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:  Dr Mitchell? 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Thank you, sir.  Good morning, just, Mr Lloyd.  Just a 

couple of things just to help me understand things, when you refer to an 

on-street loading facility, I mean I know what an on-street loading 

facility means in sort of a definitional sense, it is a loading facility that 10 

is on the street, but what is it in the context of this proposal, where does 

it start and finish? 

 

MR LLOYD:   My intention of that was a loading zone so that is basically a 

marked parking space on the street that actually has a loading zone on 15 

it and it might be restricted to goods vehicles only, it might have a time 

limit on it but it is basically a publicly available loading zone. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, that is helpful, thank you.  The table, you have 

referenced it in your evidence, table 7.10 of the proposal sets out 20 

minimum and maximum requirements for private ways and vehicle 

accesses and so forth, and you have accepted the matters raised in 

submissions by I think Calder Stewart and Kennaway Park and maybe 

some others, about the maximum floor width to allow big trucks to 

manoeuvre safely.  Why do you need a maximum standard at all? 25 

 

MR LLOYD:   The previous maximum was too narrow for the trucks to turn in 

there. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I understand that but why do you have a maximum figure, 30 

why can’t you just specify a minimum figure and if you want to have 

bit trucks in your facility you make it wider and if someone wants to 

make it 11 metres wide because it suits what they want to do, why 

would the plan need to control that? 

 35 

MR LLOYD:   The primary reason is road safety where, when you have a very 

wide driveway what happens is the bigger vehicles can get in and out 

quite easily, so what tends to happen is they get in and out quite 

quickly and then the smaller vehicle, like your courier vans and your 

cars and stuff and that sort of thing, can drive in and out of the 40 

driveway very quickly at very acute angles so they are not going in and 

out parallel.  So it becomes quite a dangerous situation for pedestrians 

on the footpath but also staff on the site.  So it is basically a safety 

requirement and a practical solution. 

 45 
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DR MITCHELL: That is helpful. Just two more quick questions of 

clarification; on page 8 of your evidence where you address one of the 

matters of discretion in rule 7.3.5 and it is coming up again this on-

street loading facility. And you say, “As long as they are within 50 

metres of the site and the site does not require crossing of any road”, 5 

would that include a private road or private areas of land where there 

are a lot of vehicle movements or do you mean a road, eg a public 

road? 

 

MR LLOYD:   My intention there was a public road. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:  A public road, all right, thank you.  And just finally, at 

page 11 of your primary statement and where you have talked about 

ramp gradients that you are proposing, are they pretty standard 

numbers that are used all around the place or are these, you know, 15 

particularly steep or particularly flat?  If we were looking at, you know, 

some other part of the country are these the sorts of numbers that we 

would expect to find? 

 

MR LLOYD:   I would expect to see them around the country.  These are from 20 

the ASNZS 2890 ramp gradients so, yes, very uniform. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  All right, thank you.  Thank you, Mr Lloyd.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 25 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  No questions. 

 

SJH:  Anything arising, Ms Sinclair? 

 30 

MS SINCLAIR:  No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:  Thank you, Mr Lloyd, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.04 pm] 35 

 

SJH:   Just before we go on I presume that all counsel but counsel at table 2 

may not be aware of this, that Ms Scott is going to have to go home 

because she will not be able to return today and, given there is a cross-

examination and such like of Mr Falconer, there has been a request that 40 

we put his evidence off until tomorrow so that Mr Winchester can get 

here from Wellington. 

 

 So if counsel are not – we will bring the Crown witnesses forward after 

lunch – If you don’t want to stay to here that evidence, however 45 
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fascinating it may be, you are at liberty to be excused until tomorrow 

morning when Mr Falconer attends, okay. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir. 

 5 

MS SINCLAIR:   Ms Ward for the Council please. 
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<JEANETTE ALICE WARD, affirmed [12.04 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SINCLAIR [12.05 pm] 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Can you please confirm that your full name is Jeanette Alice 

Ward? 

 5 

MS WARD:   Yes. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   And that you have prepared a statement of evidence-in-chief 

dated 26 May 2015 which sets out your qualifications and experience 

and also a rebuttal statement of evidence, dated 17 June 2015? 10 

 

MS WARD:   Yes. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:  Do you have any corrections to those briefs of evidence?  

Great, and with that can you please confirm that that evidence is true 15 

and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 

MS WARD:  Yes, it is. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:  Thank you.  Please take the Panel through your highlights 20 

package. 

 

MS WARD:   My evidence focuses on two issues and the submissions relating 

to these.  These are cycle parking and end of trip facilities.  I was 

involved in the expert conferencing session relating to cycle parking 25 

and also the mediation.  Through both of these processes the majority 

of issues relating to cycle parking and end of trip facilities have been 

resolved. 

 

 The remaining issues are raised by Generation Zero who in general 30 

support the proposed rules however they would like to see school cycle 

parking covered, lockers added back into the proposal as an end of trip 

facility and the rate of shower provision increased. 

 

 As stated in my evidence I am of the view that historically and even in 35 

recent years the provision of cycle parking in Christchurch, in 

conjunction with development, has generally been poorly executed.  

For example, cycle parking has often been under supplied in terms of 

demand, the cycle stands have not sufficiently supported the frame of 

the bicycle so people don’t use them as they are not effective and the 40 

cycle parks have been located too far from public entrances and often 

in unlit areas.  These aspects can all act as deterrents. 

 

 The operative Christchurch City Plan already requires cycle parking 

but it is silent on the design and location except for requiring that all 45 

cycle parking should be covered, however that rule is rarely adhered to.   



 Page 47 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.06.15 

 

 The operative plan also does not differentiate between short stay and 

long stay cycle parking as opposed to the car parking requirements 

which do.  Short stay cycle parking is generally considered to be that of 

short periods of time and associated with activities such as shopping or 5 

visiting a destination.  Long stay cycle parking is associated with 

employees, residents and students who may need to park for longer 

periods of time, for example all day.   

 

 The transport proposal requires separate cycle parking supply rates for 10 

short term and long term cycle parking and that long term cycle parking 

is covered, except at schools.  I support the rules that outline specific 

requirements for the design and location of cycle parking and these are 

necessary to avoid substandard outcomes.  I consider that the 

requirements proposed in the Council’s latest version of the proposal 15 

are best practice and are not onerous.  They essentially provide a design 

checklist for applicants when preparing their site layout.  In my view 

the rules promote good quality cycle parking whilst not stifling 

innovation and they also improve the consistency with cycle parking 

rules that are currently in the plan introduced in 2013 as part of the 20 

Accessible City for Central City zones.   

 

 With regard to end of trip facilities there are no requirements for these 

facilities beyond cycle parking in the operative city plan.  A 

requirement for both showers and lockers where activities provide staff 25 

cycle parking had been proposed in the notified proposal.  However in 

response to submissions this requirement is now only for showers as 

the locker requirement has been deleted by Council in the latest 

proposal.   

 30 

 The requirement for showers as an end of trip facility for cycle parking 

is also being proposed in Hamilton City and Auckland through their 

district plans as a mean to encourage more sustainable transport 

options.  I believe that showers in a building for staff who have cycled 

should be required by the district plan as a method to meet the transport 35 

objectives of the plan.  I consider that offices and large scale activities 

such as retail and commercial complexes, universities, hospitals, are the 

key activities where showers should be provided for staff as an end of 

trip facility.   

 40 

 Overall it is my view that the shower requirement in the revised 

proposal is set at sensible thresholds and by that I mean the scale of 

activity before the minimum shower requirements are triggered.  The 

thresholds will capture the intent of the rule, that being to provide end 

of trip facilities for activities where a high number of staff may choose 45 

to cycle to work and wish to shower on arrival.   



 Page 48 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.06.15 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

 The requirement for showers was agreed to all but one expert at the 

expert conferencing.  However since then matters have been resolved 5 

and there are no further outstanding issues with regard to showers. 

 

 In my view the cycle parking and end trip facility requirements in 

Council’s latest proposal provide a solid foundation for modal choice to 

the residents of Christchurch which is consistent with the objectives of 10 

the plan. 

 

 I am open to any questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 15 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you sir. 

 

SJH:  Dr Mitchell? 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:  Thank you sir.  Good afternoon Ms Ward.  I have only got 

one question and it is about the shower situation and I know that it is 

been agreed but I am just trying to just understand a couple of practical 

things. 

 25 

 I can see how if you have got an office facility or a commercial premise 

it is relatively easy or straightforward where you are talking about toilet 

blocks and so forth to include showers for the workforce, and the 

public doesn’t have access to them and so forth.  I am thinking about 

the practicalities though, of say a large retail centre such as a mall, and 30 

you might have, you know, a number of quite small tenancies, perhaps 

even several hundred of them, how would that work in practise?  Is 

there essentially, you have a locker room or something, is that how it 

would work? 

 35 

MS WARD:   Yes, I imagine they would have a centralised area for staff and 

like you say they work for different organisations, different businesses, 

but it would be a central organised location.  I don’t believe that is what 

happens currently in mall developments and the staff are actually you 

know have to use the public facilities for the toilets, so the threshold 40 

that we actually have in there would only be triggered if a retail 

development was over 8,000 square metres so I suspect it will only 

apply to larger developments as they occur and then they would need to 

think about how they might comply with that. 

 45 

DR MITCHELL:  All right, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 
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SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 

 5 

SJH:  Just going back when you answered Dr Mitchell about how a mall would 

cope with this requirement, you said you imagine – is that where it 

comes from, imagination?  It is not very helpful in terms of evidence, is 

it, that you imagine something.  Has it not been considered, the 

practicalities of how you do it? 10 

 

MS WARD:   I am not aware of any malls in New Zealand that have done it in 

that way but if they were to comply with this rule that is what they 

would need to do is set up a centralised area. 

 15 

SJH:   So in all the work the Council has done on this you haven’t actually sat 

down and figured out how that might be achieved in practical terms? 

 

MS WARD:   No. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you.  Could you just have a look at your 10.10 at page 25.  You 

say there in your third and second last sentences “this raises the 

argument if showers are already being provided, why regulate, however 

equally if they are being provided then what is the harm in regulating”.  

Have you turned your mind to the cost of regulation there, and how 25 

does that fit in with the statement of expectation? 

 

MS WARD:   I believe the costs have been looked at by Mr Nunns in his 

evidence with regard to the benefits.   

 30 

SJH:   I asked had you turned your mind to the cost of regulation and how it 

fits in with the statement of expectation. 

 

MS WARD:   No. 

 35 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Anything Ms Sinclair? 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   No thank you sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.13 pm] 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Mr Nunns, please. 

45 
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<PETER NUNNS, affirmed [12.13 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SINCLAIR [12.14 pm] 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Could you please confirm your full name is Peter Gordon 

Rogan Nunns? 

 5 

MR NUNNS:  Yes I can. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:  And you have prepared a statement of evidence-in-chief 

dated 26 May 2015 which sets out your qualifications and experience, 

as well as a statement of rebuttal evidence, dated 17 June 2015? 10 

 

MR NUNNS:  Yes. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   Do you have any corrections to your evidence? 

 15 

MR NUNNS:  No. 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   So you can confirm that your evidence is true and correct? 

 

MR NUNNS:  Yes, that is accurate. 20 

 

MS SINCLAIR:  Thank you. Could you please take the Panel through your 

highlights package. 

 

MR NUNNS:  Okay, thank you. Thank you for your time today.  I have been 25 

asked by the Council to provide economic evidence on four topics in 

the Transport proposal, being minimum car parking requirements for 

MPRs, cycle parking requirements and a trip facility requirements and 

integrated transport assessments, ITAs. 

 30 

 Here I am going to provide a brief overview of my approach and 

findings. 

 

 In my analysis I have generally drawn upon three sources of guidance, 

the first being section 32 of the RMA which sets out requirements for 35 

cost benefit analysis of planning regulations, secondly the Treasury’s 

regulatory impact analysis handbook, which establishes guidelines for 

good analysis of regulatory policies, and third the NZTA’s economic 

evaluation manual which provides a number of relevant factors and 

guidelines for evaluating transport policies. 40 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

 So first I just want to discuss minimum parking requirements.  MPRs 

can impose opportunity costs on individual landowners by reducing the 45 

amount of commercial or residential floor space that can be provided 
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on sites and generate broader costs on society as a result of changed 

transport behaviours that lead to increased congestion, vehicle 

emissions and reduced health benefits from walking and cycling. 

 

 There is a range of empirical evidence which I summarised in my 5 

evidence that MPRs tend to result in an oversupply of parking, both for 

individual businesses and for commercial centres or cities as a whole.  

The cost of a regulated oversupply of parking can be large as each 

parking space requires approximately 27 to 30 square metres of land, 

including space for manoeuvring.   10 

 

 However MPRs can also generate some benefits for Council and 

individual landowners by reducing, if not necessarily eliminating, the 

potential for parking spill-over and hence allowing them to avoid some 

parking management costs.  I have considered these in my evidence.   15 

 

 My analysis and review of the wider empirical literature leads me to 

conclude that the costs of imposing MPRs are likely to exceed the 

benefits of avoided parking management costs.  This is especially true 

in commercial centres and in areas with mixed uses or moderate to high 20 

densities, although it is also likely to apply in some but not all 

residential areas. 

 

 Consequently I support the provisions in the revised proposal that: a) 

remove MPRs from local and neighbourhood centres and adjacent 25 

roads; b) reduce the number of carparks required for some residential 

activities relative to the provisions in the Operative City Plan; c) reduce 

MPRs in areas that are accessible to public transport, public parking 

facilities, walking/cycling options or a mix of uses; and d) manage 

parking requirements for HTGs, high trip generators, through ITAs 30 

which require a more site specific consideration of parking 

requirements. 

 

 I think it is worth noting the removal or reduction of MPRs does not 

limit any individual developer, business or household to provide the 35 

amount of parking that they require. If they prefer, they are always able 

to continue to provide parking at the same rates that would have been 

required under the Operative Plan, or above those rates.  But it does 

provide flexibility for businesses and households that might prefer 

otherwise. 40 

 

 And I do acknowledge in my rebuttal evidence and in my primary 

evidence that there can be a trade-off between flexibility and certainty 

in parking policies, as with any regulatory policies.  However I would 

suggest that the significant empirical evidence on the economic costs of 45 

MPRs should outweigh claims about their certainty, given the lack of 
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specific empirical evidence on our estimates of the costs of uncertainty 

that would arise as a result of the removal of MPRs. 

 

 Second, cycle parking requirements in the nature of facility 

requirements. Based on a review of the relevant evidence on 5 

behavioural responses to the provision of appropriately located cycle 

parking and of trip facilities I conclude that these requirements can play 

a role in facilitating additional cycling and the associated health, 

environmental and congestion benefits.  However they can also impose 

costs on developments due to the need to purchase and install cycle 10 

stands and provide on-site showers. 

 

 In order to understand the relative magnitude of costs and benefits I 

have asked the question “How much behaviour change would be 

required in order for the benefits of these policies to exceed the costs?”  15 

This was necessary due to the fact that there is no detailed predictive 

model of cyclists’ behaviour following the installation of cycle 

facilities. 

 

 This analysis suggests that these requirements can result in net social 20 

benefits, even under very conservative assumptions for behaviour 

change, so for example I estimate that each cycle stand would need to 

generate one additional one-way cycle trip per fortnight in order to 

deliver social benefits twice as high as the cost of provision. 

 25 

 Similarly I estimate that each shower would need to generate roughly 

three to four one-way cycle trips per week in order to meet the same 

condition.  These figures also exclude any benefits to existing cyclists 

and other users such as people who may choose to exercise at 

lunchtime and thus I considered them to be a bit conservative. 30 

 

 So in light of this evidence, and evidence suggesting that a lack of 

cycling facilities is a barrier to cycling for some people, I conclude that 

it is reasonable to expect these provisions to stand up from a cost 

benefit perspective.   35 

 

 Third, moving on to ITAs; I find that ITA requirements may introduce 

some additional upfront costs for large developments, potentially 

including costs associated with uncertainty in the consenting process 

and additional delays to development, but they also have the potential 40 

to reduce costs to developers by assisting them in optimising the 

provision of car parking. 
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  [12.20 pm] 

 

 In particular I note that ITAs provide more flexibility than the MPRs 

that have traditionally applied to high trip generating activities, and 

finally I note that ITAs have the potential to generate other benefits for 5 

society by reducing negative externalities associated with transport 

mode choice, eg congestion and vehicle emissions arising from car use, 

and the potential to reduce crashes or potentials for conflict around 

vehicle access ways. 

 10 

 So as the impacts of ITAs will be highly dependent upon the individual 

developments that they apply to I have again asked the question “How 

much behaviour change or development change would be required in 

order for the benefits of ITAs to exceed the costs?”  I conclude that it 

would be possible for ITA requirements to deliver social benefits twice 15 

as high as the upfront costs of conducting an ITA under several 

scenarios, which are not exclusive. 

 

 First if they allow developers to implement a modest reduction in 

carparks relative to MPR rules that would otherwise apply, second if 20 

they result in the avoidance of a small number, two to six car trips per 

peak times or a modest reduction in intersection-specific congestion 

around the site, or third, if the average ITA results in the avoidance of 

one injury crash among vehicles entering or leaving the facility over a 

period of 55 to 140 years. 25 

 

 So once again these calculations suggest that even under high 

assumptions about the cost of ITAs a relatively modest level of design 

change or behavioural change would be required in order for them to 

pass a cost benefit test. 30 

 

 So thank you for listening, I will take any questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 35 

MS HURIA:  Yes. Mr Nunns, just a couple of quick questions.  If you reduce 

the number of carparks required for residential activities, and I have 

read the data that said what the number of cars per household is in the 

last census I think it was, where do people park when they have got 

more than one car? 40 

 

MR NUNNS:   One option that they do have is to continue to purchase more 

off street carparks which is not ruled out under a change to MPRs in 

residential zones.  So I would observe for example that households with 

more than three cars are completely able, under current rules, to 45 

purchase three garages or three spaces in driveways. 
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MS HURIA:   Is that from their neighbours? 

 

MR NUNNS:   On their own sites, yes.  The second option is on-street parking 

which I note is not generally managed within Christchurch using any 5 

active parking management policies.  I would be happy to talk about 

parking management policies if you would like. 

 

MS HURIA:   I was wondering can you comment on the view that minimum 

car parking in residential areas may have an adverse effect on people in 10 

the lower socio-economic parts of the city? 

 

MR NUNNS:   I did discuss that in my primary evidence.  In my view that is a 

possibility.  I would note several more factors there to be more precise.  

The first is that rates of car ownership are lowest among low income 15 

households.  Households that earn less than $50,000 are considerably 

less likely to own cars than households earning above. Those are the 

households that both get the least use out of garages and off street 

carparks and have the least ability to pay for them. 

 20 

 There are some offsetting factors.  One offsetting factor is that garages 

are not totally useless even if you don’t have a car.  You can still use 

them for storage, for other activities or, as many people have been 

doing in Christchurch since the earthquakes, as informal residences.  I 

suppose my view is that a precise assessment of the value of those 25 

carparks to those people is a bit challenging in that regard.  Some of 

them would undoubtedly prefer flexibility to turn that garage into a 

bedroom, or not have it in the first place but it is difficult to know how 

many. 

 30 

MS HURIA:  Okay, I wanted to hear it in your own words, thank you. Thank 

you sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 35 

DR MITCHELL: Thank you sir, good afternoon Mr Nunns.  Whatever 

assessment’s made at any particular time about parking requirements is 

always a matter of calculation and judgement and someone draws a line 

in the sand and says, “This is the number of car parks that are 

required”. 40 

 From the work that you have done, given that there is uncertainty 

around those numbers; do you err on the side of caution in providing 

more carparks or less carparks if you are looking at the costs and 

benefits, in an integrated holistic sense? 

45 
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  [12.25 pm] 

 

MR NUNNS:  That would be a matter for individual developers and businesses 

to make.  I wouldn’t consider myself competent to make their business 

decisions for them. 5 

 

 That being said I agree with the point that you are making, that some 

businesses will prefer to support more car parking now in the 

knowledge that they can always redevelop it later.  Other businesses 

may be a little bit more constrained in the capital available to them to 10 

develop the site and start their business. 

 

 Those businesses might be ones where they would prefer to err on the 

low side or on the conservative side and investigate options to, say, rent 

carparks from adjacent sites or public parking buildings if their 15 

demands were higher.  So that would be a matter for individual 

businesses to decide, in my view. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  You have used the word “social costs” certainly in your 

statement this afternoon, and it seems to me that if you make a 20 

conscious decision to under-do parking either by way of saying “We’ve 

put a whole lot of cycle parks in that we anticipate that people might 

use”, but you don’t know whether they will or whether they won’t, and 

I think we have heard evidence that says that that requires a change in 

sort of mass mentality to make that a reality. 25 

 

 Isn’t the reality that all you are going to do is clog up streets around 

centres with people parking on the footpath, on the grass verges and 

wouldn’t it be appropriate if you are a whole life cycle costing to factor 

those costs in such that if you are looking to internalise costs to third 30 

parties as opposed to developers I would have thought that meant that 

you would actually err on the side of marking more parking available.   

 

 And if in the fullness of time you say well, “We don’t need half of 

these”, you can redevelop the site as you have suggested.  But if you 35 

don’t, you get it wrong and you hope that people take the bus and you 

hope that people will cycle and you hope that people will walk, and you 

say, “Well as a consequence of that we’ll prune the carpark numbers 

back”; isn’t it the surrounding communities that will bear the social 

costs of that under-provision of parking? 40 

 

MR NUNNS:   So I think there are two issues in your question that I would 

like to address separately.  The first is the decision about when to walk-

back your minimum parking requirements and the second is how you 

manage on-street car parking and overspill into other sites in the street. 45 
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 With regards to the first, I would argue that we are actually at the point 

where we have a sufficient weight of empirical evidence, including that 

summarised in my own evidence but not limited to it, to suggest that 

we should adopt a different approach to parking management.  In my 

rebuttal evidence I took a look at, I think it was 88 or 90, measurements 5 

of peak parking demands at a number of retail sites in Christchurch.  

Two-thirds of those measurements were below the minimums in the 

Operative District Plan.  That suggests to me that we are at the point 

where we can adopt a reconsideration, reconsider those policies. 

 10 

 With regards to the second, you know and I would note furthermore 

that the direction that the Council is taking is consistent with the 

directions from the Panel to generally reduce the costs of regulation on 

businesses, and with the Productivity Commission’s report a week and 

a half ago, which recommended the removal of minimum car parking 15 

from even residential areas. 

 

 With regard to the second issue, the impact of parking overspill onto 

neighbouring sites and onto the streets, I think the fundamental point 

there that I would make as an economist is that parking is a private 20 

good.  It is rival risk which means that two people can’t occupy the 

same parking space at one time, and it’s excludable, which means that 

if you don’t want someone in it you can keep them out of it, through a 

number of mechanisms. 

 25 

 In my primary evidence I did consider the costs of adopting those 

policies, including costs to Council and costs to other businesses, and 

concluded that they were significantly lower than the costs imposed by 

minimum parking rules. 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   I understand that and that is a very helpful answer.  I am 

just wondering though the extent to which you have factored in the 

costs to people that are adversely affected by overspill parking.  

Because there’ is nothing in my understanding that frustrates people 

more than that they can’t get access to their own property carpark in 35 

front of it because both sides of the street are jam packed with carparks 

that theoretically should be at the mall next door and aren’t.  Have you 

factored that in and if so how have you? 

 

  [12.30 pm] 40 

 

MR NUNNS:  I have, that is accounted for in my calculation of the costs of 

removing or reducing minimum car parking requirements.  I have 

accounted for the costs to Council of implementing alternative parking 

management policies, the price to manage on-street car parking. 45 
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 I have accounted for the costs to businesses to, say, install signage to 

exclude people from their sites.  I guess my view on that is that we 

have to value those costs based on what it costs to mitigate or avoid 

them.  So if it costs, for example I drew on evidence from a 2013 report 

authored by several colleagues of mine for Auckland City Council 5 

which found that the aggregate costs of parking management for three 

town centres in Auckland, I think the present value of those costs was 

14.5 million dollars which would include annual costs of some 

hundreds of thousands of dollars.   

 10 

 If people prefer to have the frustration of not being able to find a 

parking space to the costs of implementing such a system, I would have 

to conclude that they find those frustration costs smaller than the costs 

of pursuing a management scheme. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:  Sorry to belabour the point, and I am just trying to 

understand; the costs that you seem to be looking at though are the 

costs that the Council might bear by way of public relation or a 

developer might bear, by way of lost custom or people choosing to park 

elsewhere. 20 

 

 I am more interested in the social cost, and you have used that word, of 

peoples’ private streets being used as a free car park.  I mean sure, the 

Council might intervene and say, “Well will put no parking zones along 

the street”, but it also means then that the residents can’t park there 25 

either unless they have got a permit system and all those sorts of things.  

And I am just wondering the extent to which that cost, it may not be 

enumerated in dollars and cents readily, but just how people value 

residential amenity and so forth.  And so if you’re going to have a 

shopping centre look after your own parking and keep it on your own 30 

land and don’t impose the social costs on me.  And I am just wondering 

the extent to which you have been able to enumerate that in your 

analysis. 

 

MR NUNNS:   Yes, yes, and I apologise for not giving a more succinct answer 35 

in the first place. My view on that alternative parking management 

policies can deliver the same or better level of amenity for people using 

on street carparks for people living in the surrounding areas. 

 

 So evidence from two cities who recently changed their approach to 40 

on-site parking management, being San Francisco and Auckland, does 

suggest that parking search costs tend to go down, when you adopt a 

more active - - - 

 

SJH:   You are still talking right past the question.  The question is, have you 45 

considered the social and indeed economic costs for people who 
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occupy businesses or residences around, say, a key activity centre 

where there is spill over into their streets?  The loss of amenity from it.  

It is a very straightforward question.  Now you have talked past it three 

times, could you just answer Dr Mitchell please?  If you haven’t done it 

just say so. 5 

 

MR NUNNS:  I have done it indirectly but not directly.  And I have done it 

indirectly by quantifying the costs of an alternative approach to parking 

management with - - - 

 10 

SJH:   It is parking.  It is not just parking costs you were asked about.  If you 

live on a street and suddenly everyone’s parking there, on the verge 

from eight in the morning until nine at night when previously it was a 

quiet street, because all the parking was in the mall, that has an impact 

on people, it has a social cost.  That is the sort of cost I think you’re 15 

talking about, Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:  That is precisely right sir. 

 

SJH:   So it is not about parking. 20 

 

MR NUNNS:  Yes, I haven’t quantified those costs.  My view is that you could 

avoid those costs through parking management policies such as 

residential parking preference schemes. 

 25 

SJH:   Okay, thank you. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you sir that is all I have, thanks. 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 30 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  One question.  Mr Nunns, do you know if there is a 

definition of the term “end of trip” in the Plan? 

 

MR NUNNS:   No. 35 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So what is your definition, of end of trip. 

 

MR NUNNS:   My definition of end of trip would be the place where people 

are ending their trip, which would imply some sort of degree of length 40 

of stay, to my mind.  So if I am making say, a retail trip – and I 

presume this is with reference to the cycle facilities? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Cycle, yes. 

45 



 Page 60 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.06.15 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

MR NUNNS:  Yes.  So if I am making a retail trip by bike I might be calling in 

at multiple shops along the way and spending 15 or 20 minutes in each.  

I wouldn’t assume that the first shop that I stopped in would be the end 5 

of the trip.  I would consider it to be a way point along the way.  If on 

the other hand I was going to work, I would cycle there and then stay 

there for a prolonged period of time I would consider that to be a 

stopping point. 

 10 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So it is in the eyes of the cyclist? 

 

MR NUNNS:  From the perspective of the cyclist, which is the perspective that 

I would take on that, it would be in the eyes of the cyclist from the 

perspective that the Plan; I agree that a definition is necessary. 15 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Because I would look at it and say, “Anywhere where 

there is a cycle stand”, and let’s says there is 15 cycle stands, that is 15 

“parks” if you like, is by definition an “end of trip”, so it there is 20 

cycle parks in the centre of the city because people want to cycle to the 20 

centre of the city, then presumably Council will provide one shower.  

So I guess my question really comes to the concept of is there a 

possibility that we end up having too many showers?   

 

 Because I mean how do you decide?  And there is an economic cost of 25 

that isn’t there; how do you decide where the end of trip is? 

 

MR NUNNS:   That might be a question better referred to Ms Ward. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   I agree with that, sorry I that had to give it to you. 30 

 

MR NUNNS:  No, I think one issue there that I would highlight which is a 

subtlety, is that the shower requirements are calculated only on staff 

resident or student – I think only staff resident are cycle requirements.  

It might just be staff, pardon me. 35 

 

 And so there are no, if a facility provides a number of visitor cycle 

parks or customer cycle parks there wouldn’t necessarily be a shower 

requirement with that. 

 40 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Yes, I can understand where for instance there is an 

office, they have got cycle parks, they are going to provide a shower.  

No thank you. 
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SJH:  Mr Nunns, your 5.14, the study you referred to when you were 

answering questions from Dr Mitchell, the 14.5 million parking 

management, is that a net loss figure to Auckland Council? 

 

MR NUNNS:   Pardon me, could you provide a paragraph reference? 5 

 

SJH:   5.14. 

 

MR NUNNS:   5.14. 

 10 

SJH:   Page 17 of your refined brief. 

 

MR NUNNS:   Yes.  Net loss to Council? 

 

SJH:   Yes, yes. 15 

 

MR NUNNS:  You mean in terms of costs that they can’t recoup from users? 

 

SJH:   Well there is no mention there about the income from the parking meters 

for example, so I want to know is this a net loss figure or is this just the 20 

management cost which then needs to be stacked up against the income 

side? 

 

MR NUNNS:  It is the gross cost rather than the net cost.  So we haven’t 

factored in any income from the parking meters. 25 

 

SJH:   So what is the income from the parking meters? 

 

MR NUNNS:  To be honest I have to seek additional evidence on that but my 

understanding is that in many cases the parking meters cover the cost of 30 

their operation. 

 

SJH:  Right.  But it is a rather strange economic view just to set out 

expenditure and not income, isn’t it? 

 35 

MR NUNNS:   Yes, I mean I do agree with that point.  The perspective I would 

take is that the cost to the Council can be offset by income earned from 

people parking in those spaces but that then in turn represents a cost to 

those people. 

 40 

SJH:  Yes, but by not taking into account income and making it sound like it’s 

costing them 14.5 million a year, it is somewhat misleading.  I know 

you’re quoting someone else but it is misleading, isn’t it? 

 

MR NUNNS:   Yes from that perspective I can see that point. 45 
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SJH:  6.9 and onwards you deal with a number of stated preference surveys and 

I’ve already made it plain that I fully support what’s being attempted 

here but preference surveys by their nature are a somewhat speculative 

beast, is that fair comment? 

 5 

MR NUNNS:   Yes.  I do refer to one revealed preference study that does tend 

to bolster those findings. 

 

SJH:  No I understand that. 

 10 

MR NUNNS:   Yes. 

 

SJH: But generally a preference survey is not as solid as good empirical 

evidence, is it?  Well not generally; it isn’t. 

 15 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

MR NUNNS:  It is a form of empirical evidence, but one that has to be taken 

with caution. 

 20 

SJH:   Right.  Your 6.13, you refer to the Buehler study? 

 

MR NUNNS:  Yes. 

 

SJH:   And how it demonstrated that if there are facilities people are more 25 

likely to commute by bicycle; can you tell me how more likely? 

 

MR NUNNS: I could look that up for you fairly quickly, I believe that 

Ms Ward actually referred to – I think Ms Ward may have referred to 

that specific figure in her evidence, if not I believe - - - 30 

 

SJH:   No, I was interested in the figure from the Buehler study. 

 

MR NUNNS: Yes, she does refer to that as well.  I believe it was sort of 

around the four-fold increase in propensity to cycle, but - - - 35 

 

SJH:   So significant, even if it is a low base? 

 

MR NUNNS:  Significant, yes. 

 40 

SJH:  All right, okay, thank you.  Now, just one other matter, which I raised 

earlier with Ms Scott when she opened, you are aware of the 

requirement – no, I better take it back a step.  You will have considered 

the regional planning document? 

 45 

MR NUNNS:   Not explicitly, no. 



 Page 63 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.06.15 

 

SJH:    Are you aware of the superior documents we must give effect to that set 

out a centres based approach? 

 

MR NUNNS:  I am aware of them but I haven’t referred to them in my 5 

evidence.   

 

SJH:   Are you aware that that affords primacy to the central city and is a 

descending hierarchy through the key activity or district centres, 

neighbourhood centres and local centres? 10 

 

MR NUNNS:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Are you able to tell me relatively succinctly how this suite of provisions 

is going to promote that centres based approach that we are required to 15 

give effect to? 

 

MR NUNNS:   The removal of minimum parking requirements from the local 

and neighbourhood centres will tend to enable development in those 

places by removing a barrier to new sites being identified and 20 

developed or developed more intensively in cases where there are 

existing uses.  So I would consider it is something that would enable 

that planning framework to succeed, by the reduction of some of the 

costs of locating in those places. 

 25 

SJH:   Has there been consideration given that if you give that benefit to the 

local and neighbourhood centres, can it have an offsetting impact on 

the district and the CBD?  Has anything been done looking at that? 

 

MR NUNNS: My understanding is that the same policy, ie removal of 30 

minimums, is being adopted in the city centre, and that is how I 

consider the effect to be neutral between those places.   

 

SJH:   Right.  So there will be no adverse impact anyway? 

 35 

MR NUNNS:   No, I wouldn’t believe so. 

 

SJH:   All right.  Thank you, Mr Nunns.  Anything arising? 

 

MS SINCLAIR:   No, thank you, sir. 40 

 

SJH:  Thank you, Mr Nunns, you may stand down.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.43 pm] 

 45 
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SJH:   We will take the luncheon adjournment and come back with your 

opening at 1.45 pm.  Thank you. 

 

ADJOURNED [12.43 pm] 

 5 

RESUMED [1.46 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Yes, Mr Allen? 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir, thank you, Panel, and sir, just to introduce the 10 

Crown’s approach for this hearing, myself and Mrs White will be 

representing the Crown for all the Crown agencies apart from the 

New Zealand Transport Agency and Ms McIndoe will lead the 

New Zealand Transport Agency’s case. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR ALLEN:   In that respect, the brief opening submissions, has the Panel got 

the opening submissions from the Crown? 

 20 

SJH:   We just received them, thank you. 

 

MR ALLEN:   I don’t propose to read them. From the position of all the 

Crown, except for the NZTA, the matters in respect of the transport 

proposal have been discussed through conferencing and informal 25 

mediation and discussions and resolved, and as Ms Scott said this 

morning, counsel wish to express their appreciation in our case of the 

Council’s experts and the experts of all the submitters in working 

towards that resolution.  

 30 

 In the Crown’s submission the Hearings Panel should affirm the 

changes to the transport proposal as set out in the further revised 

proposal with the additional changes sought by NZTA in Part B of the 

Crown’s submission. Such changes will ensure that the transport 

proposal satisfies the requirements of the rule framework as set out in 35 

these submissions. 

 

 Just moving briefly to paragraph 6 of these submissions, the Crown’s 

focus for the proposal has been to integrate land use patterns and 

activities with infrastructure in transport and to improve accessibility, 40 

and provide for better integration of different transport modes, and as 

further described below and in Part B, the Crown, through its 

submission, sought to reinforce the importance of an integrated 

transport system, support freight movement and strategic infrastructure 

and reduce prescriptive regulations.  45 
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 Just moving briefly now to paragraph 12, which is the statutory 

requirements, I don’t propose to read that but the Panel already, in its 

strategic directions decision, has set out the statutory requirements. 

 

 Now to Part A on page 5, just before paragraph 15, as explained the 5 

Crown’s submissions, except for one NZTA issue, have been resolved 

with the Council and with the parties, and then in terms of – over now 

to paragraph 20, the amendments agreed between the Council and 

Crown address the Crown’s concerns as summarised in its submission, 

and as set out in the evidence of Ms Barker and Ms McLeod, satisfy the 10 

requirements of the rule framework set out in paragraph 13 above and 

in the Panel’s strategic directions decision. 

 

 So unless the Panel has any further questions, I propose to have the big 

Crown witnesses called, just one note is that Ms Ainsley McLeod has 15 

been excused for her evidence on behalf of the Fire Service.  

 

SJH:   Okay. You go right ahead. 

 

  [1.50 pm] 20 

 

MR ALLAN:   Thank you, sir, and I will ask Mrs White to call the witnesses. 

 

SJH:  Thank you. 

 25 

MR ALLAN:  Thank you. 

 

MS WHITE:  With your leave, we propose changing the order somewhat. 

 

SJH:  Yes, that is fine. 30 

 

MS WHITE:  Thank you.  So the Crown calls Mr Bargh. 
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<ANGUS BARGH, affirmed [1.50 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS WHITE [1.50 pm] 

 

MS WHITE:   Please confirm that your full name is Angus Bargh? 

 

MR BARGH:   It is. 5 

 

MS WHITE:   And you are currently the principal transport planner with the 

Christchurch Central Development Unit? 

 

MR BARGH:   I am. 10 

 

MS WHITE:   And you have prepared a brief of evidence for this hearing, 

dated 10 June 2015? 

 

MR BARGH:   Yes. 15 

 

MS WHITE:   And could you please confirm that the contents of your 

statement are true and correct? 

 

MR BARGH:   They are. 20 

 

MS WHITE:   And please read your highlights package and then remain for 

any questions from the Hearings Panel. 

 

MR BARGH:   Thank you.  Following the 2010 and 2011 Canterbury 25 

earthquakes there has been a significant change in travel patterns across 

the city.  Much of this change in travel patterns is a result of the loss of 

a concentrated employment base in the central city. 

 

 The proposed Replacement District Plan transport proposal is focused 30 

on transport matters and planning provisions outside of the central city.  

Given the change in travel patterns it is very important to consider the 

effect that the transport proposal will have in regard to the central city 

recovery and conversely what the effect of a recovered central city will 

have on transport throughout greater Christchurch. 35 

 

 Over the next two decades as people return to live and work in the 

central city there is a unique opportunity to deliver a travel network 

where using public transport, cycling and walking is a more compelling 

alternative to using private vehicles to travel to and from the central 40 

city. 

 

 While I do not comment on specific provisions of the transport 

proposal I consider that there are two important themes that need to be 

provided for in this proposal to ensure consistency with the objectives 45 

of the Christchurch Central Recovery Plan and An Accessible City.  
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These are travel choice and protection or protecting the role of the 

strategic transport network.  

 

 By creating greater travel choice within the central city there will be 

two direct outcomes.  Firstly, it will allow for more activity within the 5 

central city effectively providing a transport network which allows for 

an increase of jobs, residents and visitor activity.  And, secondly, it will 

catalyse a shift away from private vehicle use, an outcome which will 

extend much wider than the central city to have an influence at a 

regional level. 10 

 

 It is also important that the efficiency of the network outside the central 

city, particularly the strategic transport network, is protected so that the 

need for vehicles to move through the central city is reduced.  I am 

happy to take questions. 15 

 

SJH:  Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:  No, thank you, sir. 

 20 

SJH:  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Just one question, thanks, Mr Bargh.  It is one thing to 

promote modal choice by cycleways and cycle parks and showers and 

all the various matters that we have heard about this morning, how do 25 

you actually make people use them? 

 

MR BARGH:  I am told in the direction to keep by answers brief, there is a 

challenge in answering that question.  Just to take as quickly as I can, I 

like the analogy from this morning of the oil tanker and it is a series of 30 

measures needed to turn it around. 

 

 Firstly, with An Accessible City we have started off with quite 

aspirational targets for mode shift and there is a multipronged approach 

to providing for that.  And that is part of the reason why we need a 35 

fully integrated approach, there is no part of the transport proposal for a 

central city which shies away from the fact that is what we are aiming 

to do, and really it is about providing growth for activity across all 

modes. 

 40 

 In my job as the principal transport planner for CCDU I have recently 

commissioned an organisation who looked after the Behaviour Change 

campaign for the London Olympics to come and look at our city and 

where we sit, and the statutory documents that we have and we must 

give effect to, and to advise us over the next 20 years how we actually 45 

integrate a commonality or a theme through those documents and 
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taking from those documents to actually get that behaviour change.  

There is an engineering component and there is also a behaviour 

change component and in my opinion we have to engage on both those 

levels. 

 5 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Do you need to disincentivise private vehicle use in order to 

promote those other modes of transport? 

 10 

MR BARGH:  Disincentivise? 

 

DR MITCHELL:  I mean do you promote choice or do you create a regulatory 

regime that penalises or makes it more difficult to use a private car? 

 15 

MR BARGH:  I guess in the language I understand it is the carrot and stick 

approach.  I think first of all you have to provide the alternative 

networks that compel people to move.  So to some extent we see that 

already and An Accessible City is about doing that, it is about 

equalising access for all mode users to the road network.  It is about 20 

increasing the frequency of buses, providing separate cycle facilities to 

attract a certain component of people who are interested in cycling but 

currently don’t do so because they don’t see the network as either 

attractive or safe for choosing that mode of transport. 

 25 

 Once you have provided that, then in my opinion there is an 

opportunity to introduce a stick component to that. 

 

 So you can actually, there are various levers which you can use to 

actually move away because you have already provided that network.  I 30 

believe you have to provide those alternatives first, provide that choice, 

and that is what is An Accessible City seeks to do, especially for the 

central city. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   What would the sticks be? 35 

 

MR BARGH:   So we know the effect that certain provisions have on people 

choosing to change and I can certainly comment on those from the area 

of my expertise as a transport planner.  I am not a planner so I can’t (ph 

1.39) explain how that is given effect.  Parking is obviously one, it is 40 

given effect to, obviously trip end facilities is another.  I mean when we 

look when we ask people “Why don’t you use your cycle to work?”  

Often it is because, “Well, there is no showers at the end”, often it is 

because there is no separate or no facility in which they feel safe. 

 45 
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 Sometimes it is to do with the complexity of trip making patterns, they 

don’t cycle because they need to do something at the end of the day 

that involves picking somebody up or going shopping and that is not 

suitable for – so that is where the integratedness of the approach is very 

important and understanding the trip making patterns and behaviours 5 

you have in a city. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   The first part of your answer or the first item that you 

mentioned was parking.  What do you mean by that; do you mean 

limiting the amount of car parking space that is available to force 10 

congestion, is that the sort of thing you are meaning? 

 

MR BARGH:   What I can tell – and we have had some work which has 

recently looked at this – we know that parking provision has an effect 

on people’s ability to move to other forms of transport.  So, for 15 

example, the less parking there is in cities, there is a trend – actually let 

me start my answer again. 

 

 We know there is a relationship between the provision of parking in 

central cities and the uptake of public transport.  What is not clear of 20 

which of those two is a lead factor and which a led factor.  And I think 

there is more work that I need to do to satisfy myself on actually what 

points you actually choose parking as a lever to get mode shift.   

 

 From a central city perspective and certainly from my own perspective, 25 

the advice that I am providing to CERA is that there is an absolute 

minimum level of parking that needs to be provided in the central city 

to achieve the vibrancy that we want to attract back to the central city, 

particularly to support short stay activities, so visitors and shoppers into 

the central city, there is a minimum amount of parking that we must 30 

provide to support that. 

 

 Where we have real opportunity is persuading those who have all day 

activity so commuters who spend the whole day there, encouraging 

them to think about other modes of transport to and from the central 35 

city and parking may be well a component of how we ask them to 

consider alternatives. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   How would that work in the non-central city part of the Key 

Activity Centres which are in large part retail driven? 40 

 

MR BARGH:   So my role is just to focus on the central city and I will be 

reluctant to comment on that given the fact that I haven’t really 

considered parking and the restrictions that you may or may not place 

on the Key Activity Centres outside the central city and the effect that 45 

it will have. 
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DR MITCHELL:   But would you agree with the proposition as a transport 

planner, that unless you create sufficient car parks at those facilities 

you run the risk of having spill over social effects on the surrounding 

residential neighbourhoods? 5 

 

MR BARGH:   I listened to the discussion this morning and what I do know is 

that the primacy of a central city means that the relationship between 

parking, employment and the types of mode choice that people make is 

different than other centres.  And again without due consideration it is 10 

something, I mean I have now been working for CERA for 12 months 

and I would say it is a very difficult issue to work through to 

understand that relationship in detail and I would be very reluctant to 

make a comment having not considered it fully. 

 15 

  [2.00 pm] 

 

DR MITCHELL:  All right, thank you, thank you, sir.  Anything arising, Mr 

Allen? 

 20 

MR ALLEN:  No. 

 

SJH:  Sorry, Ms White? 

 

MS WHITE:  None for me, sir. 25 

 

SJH:  Thank you, thank you, you may stand down.  Yes, Ms White? 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.00 pm] 

 30 

MS WHITE:  The Crown calls Ms Barker. 
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<VICKY ANNE BARKER, sworn [2.00 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS WHITE [2.00 pm] 

 

MS WHITE:  Could you please confirm that your full name is Vicky Anne 

Barker? 

 5 

MR BARKER:  That is right. 

 

MS WHITE:  You are the managing director of Barker Planning? 

 

MR BARKER:  Yes. 10 

 

MS WHITE:  You have prepared a brief of evidence for this hearing, dated 

10 June 2015? 

 

MR BARKER:   Yes. 15 

 

MS WHITE:   Please confirm that the contents of that brief of evidence are true 

and correct? 

 

MR BARKER:   Yes, they are. 20 

 

MS WHITE:   Please read your highlights package and then remain for any 

questions from the Hearings Panel? 

 

MR BARKER:   Thank you, my statement of evidence addresses the planning 25 

matter relevant to the Crown, namely those matters of relevance to the 

Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority, the Ministry of Education 

and Housing New Zealand Corporation. 

 

 The planning matters of relevance to the New Zealand Transport 30 

Agency and the Fire Commission are dealt with separately by Ms 

Ainsley McLeod in evidence for the Crown.  Through its submission 

the Crown sought to reduce prescriptive regulations and improve 

planning usability and clarity.  In my opinion the significant number of 

detailed changes the Council proposes to the transport proposal as have 35 

been agreed with the Crown improves usability and clarity compared to 

the notified version. 

 

 All matters contained in part C of the Crown’s submission of interest to 

the Crown parties I am representing have now been resolved.  These 40 

matters are outlined in appendix VAB3 of my evidence and are 

reflected in the revised Council proposal dated 17 June 2015.  At the 

time of writing my evidence the only outstanding submission point for 

the Crown parties I am representing was the Ministry of Education 

submission point relating to cycle parking. 45 

 



 Page 74 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.06.15 

 The Ministry has sought that appendix 7.2 of the transport proposal be 

amended so that cycle parks at schools are not required to be covered 

or secured.  Following the transport proposal mediation on 4 June the 

Crown and the Council agreed to revise wording which exempts 

schools from providing covered and secured cycle parking. 5 

 

 The revised agreed wording is attached to appendix VAB2 to my 

evidence and is contained in Ms Janette Ward’s rebuttal evidence for 

the Christchurch City Council at paragraph 3.6.  I agree with Ms 

Ward’s reasoning set out in paragraph 3.7 for the change to the rules in 10 

that requiring covered and secured cycle parking for schools is both 

costly and impractical. 

 

 Mr Falconer’s rebuttal evidence for the Council at paragraph 21.3 to 

21.4 also supports the change to the cycle parking rule.  Mr Falconer 15 

agrees that requiring covered and secured cycle parking could pose 

substantial costs and logistical difficulties.  He has also noted there are 

other means to ensure cycle parking areas are safe such as lighting and 

surveillance measures and I agree. 

 20 

 Overall I would like to express appreciation to the Council for the 

constructive approach the Council officers and consultants involved in 

the proposal have taken to working with the Crown and other parties 

which has resulted in resolution of all of our submission points prior to 

the hearing and cost and time savings to all involved. 25 

 

 Thank you. 

 

SJH:  Thank you, Ms Huria? 

 30 

MS HURIA:  Yes, just a quick question, Ms Barker, about appendix VAB2 

which is on page 10 just a reference around staff residents, tertiary 

students cycle parking facility shall be located in, covered areas et 

cetera; and I am interested to know why the non-tertiary organisations 

are not covered and I take it, it is Ministry of Education funding? 35 

 

MR BARKER:  Yes, so the submission point from the Crown was of particular 

interest to the Ministry of Education and they are concerned about state 

schools and requiring cycle parking at state schools to be covered and 

secured given the large cost implications and the logistical difficulties 40 

of actually ensuring that they are secured at all times. 
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  [2.05 pm] 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Ms Barker, I have only got 

one question are you satisfied that the amount of regulation has been 

minimised to the extent practicable in the circumstances and I 

particular refer to the use of controlled activities throughout the 10 

transport section.  Do you have a comment on that? 

 

MR BARKER:   I do not specifically.  I have not considered that in any detail, 

Ms McLeod has covered off the controlled activity status in her 

evidence, particularly as it relates to a higher trip generator and ITA 15 

provisions.  That aside, I am reasonably confident that the level of 

prescription and regulation has been reduced to an acceptable level. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Just to clarify the last part, as the plan is currently drafted; so 

you do not support the greater use of controlled activities or you just 20 

have not considered it? 

 

MR BARKER:  I have not considered it in any detail, no. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, thank you sir? 25 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  No questions, sir. 

 30 

SJH:  Anything arising, Ms White? 

 

MS WHITE:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down, Ms Barker. 35 

 

MS BARKER:  Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.06 pm] 

 40 

SJH:  Yes, Ms McIndoe? 

 

MR ALLEN:  Excuse me, sir, just before that with your leave I was wondering 

if I may now be excused.  Ms White will be here for the entire hearing 

along with Ms McIndoe for the Crown? 45 
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SJH:   Yes, that is fine. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir, I just wanted to formalise that. 

 

SJH:   That is okay.  Yes, Ms McIndoe? 5 

 

MS McINDOE:  Thank you, sir.  The part B if you like of the legal 

submissions begin on page 7 of the same document which Mr Allen 

took you to.  The first page of part B on page seven really just 

summarise the Transport Agency’s particular concerns which were 10 

included within the Crown’s submission and further submission and 

also comment on the Transport Agency’s objective and functions et 

cetera.   

 

 You will have been advised of these things in the Strategic Directions 15 

proposal and so I do not intend to take you to those but instead start on 

paragraph 27.  Since filing the submission the Transport Agency has 

participated in mediation, both informal and facilitated.  Its witnesses 

have taken part in expert witness conferencing and the Transport 

Agency has re-evaluated its submission points.  There now remain very 20 

few areas of outstanding disagreement as between the Transport 

Agency, the Council and other submitters. 

 

 The Transport Agency and Council now agree on the wording for 

objective 7.1.1, there are other submitters who also agree on this 25 

wording although it is not clear to us at this stage whether that 

agreement is unanimous because some of them do not have expert 

traffic engineering witnesses. 

 

 The Transport Agency and Council agree on the wording for policy 2 30 

however they disagree with some submitters on the wording for 

paragraphs G and I of this policy and I discuss them below. 

 

 The Transport Agency considers that amendments to objective 7.1.1 

and supporting policies will in substance provide for the relief sought 35 

in the, and this is the Quarry Group submission, the Transport Agency 

was a further submitter in relation to the Aggregate Producers Group 

and understands that their concerns have been resolved, at least in 

relation to the objective. 

 40 

 The Transport Agency, Council and expert witnesses for the other 

submitters largely agree on the high trip generator rule and I will 

discuss shortly the outstanding areas of difference.  The Council 

through the latest update of the replacement plan has provided greater 

legibility to figures which the Transport Agency was concerned about 45 

in the Crown submission and thereby has resolved the Agency’s 
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concern in relation to those figures and the Transport Agency no longer 

wishes to pursue its submission points in relation to the road 

classification network and in relation to the submission by the Lyttelton 

Port Company Limited, that is because there was a Memorandum of 

Counsel seeking to withdraw the point in relation to the road 5 

classification network.  Of course the Lyttelton Port Company Limited, 

the Lyttelton Port is to be addressed through the Port Recovery Plan. 

 

 The plan provision wording which the Transport Agency seeks is 

generally as shown in the further revised proposal that being the 10 

proposal appended to Mr Falconer’s rebuttal evidence but further 

amended in accordance with the provisions attached to the 26 June 

joint memorandum.   

 

  [2.10 pm] 15 

 

 The only further amendment sought by the Transport Agency is a 

controlled activity for particular high trip generating activities with 

consequential amendments, and that amendment is shown as an 

attachment AJM1 to Ms McLeod’s rebuttal statement of evidence.  20 

 

 Turning then to policy 2.  The Transport Agency and Council agree 

that policy 2 should be worded as set in attachment A to the 26 June 

Memorandum.  The Agency disagrees with submitters that, firstly, the 

policy should only discourage under supply of parking.  The Transport 25 

Agency supports discouraging both under supply and over supply of 

parking, and so it does not support deletion of the words “or over 

supply” from paragraph G of that policy.  

 

 Paragraph I of the policy should reference “committed transport 30 

infrastructure” rather than “planned transport infrastructure” - that is 

the Agency’s submission.  It is submitted that changing the word 

“committed” – sorry this is the point that we disagree with the 

submitter on.  It is a bit confusing.  The Agency prefers the word 

“planned”.  The submitters are seeking to change that word to 35 

“committed”. 

 

 And it’s submitted that that amendment may restrict integration and 

coordination to only those activities which are funded, however, 

activities which may be consented, designated or included in relevant 40 

Transport planning documents may also be relevant considerations.  

The Transport Agency does not support replacement of the word 

“planned” with “committed” or insertion of “committed” alongside 

“planned”.  So that, if you like, there are two requirements.   

 45 
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 In relation to the high trip generator rule controlled activity status.  The 

Transport Agency agrees with many submitters that high trip 

generating activities which trigger the requirement for a basic ITA are 

otherwise permitted in a zone activity status table and do not require 

direct access to a State Highway or across a railway line, should be 5 

controlled activities.  The Council considers such activities should be 

restricted discretionary activities. 

 

 The benefits of controlled activity status, as compared to restricted 

discretionary activity status were discussed in the legal submissions for 10 

the Crown on the Subdivision, Development and Earthworks Proposal, 

and at the end of that sentence there is a number 20, which is actually 

supposed to be a footnote reference, where I have provided a reference 

to the Crown’s legal submissions on that matter, because I am 

conscious that of course it wasn’t heard by this division of the Panel. 15 

 

 Those submissions also discuss the legal framework for controlled 

activities, and I direct you to this discussion and note that the Crown’s 

submission on this Proposal is consistent with its submission in respect 

of the Subdivision Proposal.  That is, the Crown submits that it is open 20 

on the law for matters of control to be drafted in a manner that would 

enable modifications to a controlled activity, as received, where those 

modifications do not amount to negation.   

 

 Ms McLeod’s evidence suggests suitable matters of control.  The 25 

Crown’s position is that controlled activity status for high trip 

generating activities trigger the requirement for a basic ITA are 

otherwise permitted in the zoned activity table and do not require direct 

access to a State Highway or across a railway line, strikes an 

appropriate balance.  Controlled activity status will retain sufficient 30 

control for the Council to achieve the improved outcomes described in 

attachment A to Mr Roberts evidence for the Council, which Dr 

Mitchell took him to this morning. 

 

 However, controlled activity status also provides greater certainty to 35 

developers and keeps regulation to a minimum when those activities 

are anticipated and appropriately located.   

 

 The evidence for Ms McLeod and Mr Clark for the Transport Agency 

supports controlled activity status, and as I have already noted, the 40 

attachment to Ms McLeod’s rebuttal statement of evidence sets out the 

controlled activity rules supported by the Transport Agency.   

 

 The Agency and Council agree that the parking requirements for high 

trip generating activities should be determined and considered under 45 

the ITA assessment, rather than through minimum parking requirement 
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rules.  In comparison, the evidence for many submitters favours 

minimum parking rules.  Section 5 of Ms McLeod’s rebuttal statement 

of evidence sets out her view that “consideration of parking as part of 

the ITA will achieve integrated assessment.”  And the Transport 

Agency therefore supports retention of paragraph I in the first row of 5 

the relevant rule. 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

 Paragraph 3.5 of the 26 June Memorandum records this agreement 10 

between the planning experts about a mechanism to ensure applications 

for in-zone high trip generating activities requiring a basic ITA 

generally do not require public or limited notification.  Transport 

Agency supports rules, dispensing with notification where this can be 

achieved without complex plan provisions, and where this cannot be 15 

achieved in a clear and concise manner the Transport Agency supports 

the notification provisions in the further revised proposal.   

 

 Lastly, on assessment matters, the Transport Agency and Council agree 

on the assessment matters, which should apply to high trip generating 20 

activities.  Some submitters seek amendment to assessment matters 2 

and 7 which relate to amenity and network effects. 

 

 Now the assessment matters are extensively discussed is Ms McLeod’s 

evidence, in her rebuttal evidence, she does not support the 25 

amendments sought by the other submitters.  The Transport Agency 

supports the assessment matter wording set out in the attachment for 

the 26 June joint Memorandum. 

 

 The following paragraphs simply provide the conclusion of the 30 

Transport Agency on the evidence, that the provisions which they 

support are consistent with the Statement of Expectations and other 

relevant planning documents, and will be effective and deficient.  I 

don’t intend to read those paragraphs out. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you.  Any questions? 

 

MS McINDOE:   I am happy to take questions.   

 

DR MITCHELL:   Yes, I do have one.  It is about the controlled activity rule, 40 

or the proposed controlled activity rule.  And you have set out that 

conditions on a controlled activity application are able to be imposed 

provided that the activity that is being proposed, isn’t negated? 

 

MS McINDOE:   That is correct. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   And I think that is everybody’s understanding of it. 

 

 The Council’s witnesses, not just in this hearing, but in previous 

hearings, have said that they don’t have enough leverage over 

applicants with applications that they think are not up to scratch, and 5 

they have expressed a concern about either having to redesign a 

proposal themselves or have an arm up their back and having to grant 

consent when they prefer not to.  That is probably a little colloquial, but 

I think that is the crux of it. 

 10 

 When then are we negating a consent and when are we legitimately 

exercising the ability to modify the proposal?  You will remember I 

asked Mr Roberts this morning about all the examples that he said were 

bad outcomes, and he said if he had been assessing them he would have 

just imposed different conditions, which I would have thought wasn’t 15 

negating, it was imposing a condition. 

 

 But is it a black line or a grey line, and if so, how do we be satisfied 

that the controlled activity rule isn’t in fact a negation mechanism? 

 20 

MS McINDOE:  I submit that it is a continuum, which would need to be 

assessed on a case by case basis, and in each application it would be a 

matter to consider whether a condition would frustrate an exercise of 

the consent, and that could really only be determined on the facts of an 

individual application. 25 

 

 If in fact a consent condition did have that effect, then the applicant is 

entitled to challenge such a condition, either through the objection 

procedure under the Act or through an appeal.  So there are 

mechanisms available in the Act should that arise, and so if the 30 

applicant truly thought that a condition did negate or frustrate a consent 

then the law provides a mechanism to deal with that. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So your view would be that the Council should just get on 

with it and issue the conditions that they think are appropriated, 35 

provided that they reserve the control over the requisite matters, and if 

an applicant is not happy with that they have got remedies available to 

them, is that - - - 

 

MS McINDOE:  Yes, the evidence for the Agency is that – the traffic evidence 40 

is that there were no instances which the traffic engineers could think 

of where an activity of this type would need to be refused, or had been 

refused in the past, and so the Agency is comfortable that controlled 

activity status is sufficient and that conditions can be imposed when 

they need to be. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:  All right, thank you Ms McIndoe.  That is helpful, thank 

you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

MS DAWSON:  No questions, sir. 

 5 

SJH:  Any questions? 

 

MR………..:   No, questions. 

 

MS McINDOE:  Thank you. 10 

 

SJH:  All right, if you call your witness for today, which is Mr Richards.   

 

MS McINDOE:   Mr Richards, sir.   

 15 

SJH:  Thank you. 
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<JONATHAN PAUL RICHARDS, affirmed [2.20 pm] 

 



 Page 83 

  

Ch7: Transport (Part) Commenced 29.06.15 

<EXAMINATION BY MS McINDOE [2.20 pm] 

 

MS McINDOE:  Can you please confirm for the Panel that your full name is 

Jonathan Paul Richards? 

 5 

MR RICHARDS:  It is. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And that you hold the position of principal planning advisor 

at the New Zealand Transport Agency? 

 10 

MR RICHARDS:   I do. 

 

MS McINDOE:  And you have prepared one statement of evidence for this 

proposal, being a statement of evidence dated, 10 June 2015? 

 15 

MR RICHARDS:   That is correct. 

 

MS McINDOE:   You have also prepared a statement of evidence for the 

Strategic Directions proposal which your evidence for this proposal 

refers to and relies upon, is that correct? 20 

 

MR RICHARDS:   Yes I have and it is here. 

 

MS McINDOE:   Do you have any corrections that you want to make to your 

evidence? 25 

 

MR RICHARDS:   None at the moment but I did hear the discussion this 

morning about the northern arterial, so I am happy to answer questions 

on that as they come up. 

 30 

MS McINDOE:   Can you please confirm for the Panel that your evidence is 

true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MR RICHARDS:   It is. 

 35 

MS McINDOE:   Can you please present your highlights, and then answer any 

questions which the Panel has. 

 

MR RICHARDS:   Good afternoon.  A safe and efficient transport network is 

vital to support recovery and to enable economic growth.  At a strategic 40 

level, the state highway network supports Christchurch’s role as a key 

freight hub for the region and the South Island as a whole, and provides 

links to key South Island infrastructure such as the port and the airport.  

 

 However while these key routes are critical to support this economic 45 

activity, the transport system as a whole, is an integrated and 
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interlinked network, and I consider the safe and efficient operation of 

the transport network in its entirety needs to be provided for through 

this plan. 

 

 The Transport proposal is therefore of considerable interest to the 5 

Crown in this regard but also to the transport agency in its role as a 

funding agent in terms of transport infrastructure which extends beyond 

the management of the state highway network.   

 

 The Crown therefore has sought that the Plan seeks an integrated 10 

approach to land use planning and transport infrastructure provision in 

a manner that firstly supports economic development in the city and 

protects the role of the transport network in supporting economic 

activity and recovery, secondly that optimises the use of existing 

infrastructure and the use of public transport in active modes, and 15 

thirdly that provides sufficient certainty to ensure that planning and 

funding of roading improvements and maintenance can be undertaken 

with a reasonable degree of certainty and efficiency. 

 

 Whilst the limited and localised effect on the network of small scale 20 

development can be addressed through the use of design standards 

relating to parking, access, design etcetera, high trip generating 

activities, if not properly managed, can have a major detrimental effect 

on the on the efficient operation of existing and planned transport 

infrastructure. 25 

 

 As a result I support the use of rules regarding high trip generating 

activities, and the use of integrated transport assessments.  This 

approach ensures that adverse effects on the safe and efficient operation 

of the network are assessed and appropriately mitigated where needed. 30 

 

 Moreover this provides necessarily to create certainty to enable the 

Transport Agency and other parties to invest with certainty in the 

transport network and ensures the efficient use of resources.  I consider 

the revisions to the Transport proposal that have been promoted by the 35 

parties in evidence have sought to better achieve the balance between, 

firstly providing greater clarity, reducing transaction costs and reducing 

the reliance on the resource consent process, and secondly, that they 

provide for the safe and efficient operation of the transport network. 

 40 

 I support the amendments to the high trip generator provision addressed 

in Ms McLeod’s evidence, and subsequent refinements arrived at 

following a further mediation with the parties.  So I consider that this 

best provides a balanced approach needed. 

 45 
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 In addition the Transport Agency has sought amendments to objective 

7.1.1 and some of the associated policies to improve the clarity of the 

Replacement Plan’s policy direction by strengthening its recognition of 

the strategic transport network, the movement of goods, and improving 

references to the road classification system within the rules. 5 

 

 I know that the Council has largely accepted the Crown’s proposed 

amendments to these objectives and policies and I consider that these 

amendments provide the additional clarity required.  Thank you. 

 10 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  I think it would be useful before we come to Panel 

questions that you do explain as far as you are able the impact and the 

consequences of the Council’s decision on the northern arterial from 15 

the NZTA’s, because there may be questions arising from that. 

 

MR RICHARDS:   I think there might be.  As the Transport Agency has only 

recently found this out, literally Friday, I think we had some 

forewarning on Thursday, it is actually still on our books that the 20 

proposal goes ahead, nothing has changed there. 

 

 The issue now is that we have asked to meet at a very high level with 

our Board considering what this means in terms of future delivery of 

these road works.  The arterial itself is still on our books but the 25 

downstream effects, which the Council has to consider, which we were 

party to, we proceed in this as a joint function, we now need to think 

exactly what that means.  Now it is a matter of time before we can 

actually get that answer in there. 

 30 

SJH:   Okay.  Ms Huria, anything? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you sir. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Just one question I think.  You are familiar with – you have 

talked about the high trip generator rule in your evidence. 

 

MR RICHARDS:  Yes. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:  You are familiar with section 7.3.19 of the proposal which is 

very helpfully accompanied by now a chart that I think Ms McLeod 

prepared that says if you are in zone, out of zone, meet the minimum 

requirements.  Do you have a copy of that handy? 45 
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MR RICHARDS:  I don’t actually have it in front of me I am afraid.  I have got 

everything else. 

 

SJH:  It is on the screen in front of you now. 

 5 

MR RICHARDS:  Oh yes. 

 

MS McINDOE:   Thank you sir. 

 

MR RICHARDS:   Yes, that is good. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:  I really just want to understand; you know there is much 

been said about the need for integrated transport assessments.  But if I 

look down the list, in whichever one of those boxes that we are in it 

looks like it is a very flash way of saying not very much.  It allows you 15 

to look at the layout of the carpark, how many carparks there are, 

network effects, and I am struggling to understand what it is about 

these things that is anything other than basic traffic engineering. 

 

MR RICHARDS:  I think when we look at the series of different assessment 20 

matters, as we proceed through, the actual integration element really 

kicks in a lot stronger because that’s when we are starting to look at the 

effects on the network, what is planned in the area.  But I think number 

seven is always a key one, the network effects, which is the up and 

downstream effects of the activity.  25 

 

 Number six on the issues of accessibility of the location that always 

comes into play, and particularly on the fullest one where we have to 

look at the strategic framework as well, which tries to integrate the 

expenditure of the programmed works or the policies, background and 30 

everything else. 

 

 So I think what has happened is we have tried to derive and approach 

which tries to reflect the permitted baseline at some of these sites and 

try to work our way through so there is a degree of less regulation to 35 

fulfil, or shall we say assessment. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  But what is it that is being integrated?  Because we have 

talked about all these modal choices and so forth.  That doesn’t seem to 

appear here at all unless it is covered under design and layout, maybe 40 

that is where that is intended to be. 

 

MR RICHARDS:  That does feature in there, particularly in terms of access to 

facilities. 

 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   But this, I mean I am not trying to put words in your mouth, 

but it looks to me like that is just a standard thing of saying, “Sort your 

cars out and your trucks out so that they don’t stuff up the state 

highway network” which is your network things.  And otherwise make 

the car park work properly. 5 

 

 What is it about these that are this brave new world that we have been 

led to believe about integrated transport assessments? 

 

MR RICHARDS:  I think a lot of those issues actually lie in the detail.  These 10 

are summaries of what those assessments are and when you have a 

think about what those actually mean in delivery that will give you a 

chance to direct towards some of those issues.  I mean, one thing is you 

look at the trip as a whole from the site and how can you manage those 

trips, I think that is what the key theme is from an ITA.  It is just not a 15 

case of, “Well we have got x amount of trips, we will have X amount 

of car movements”, it is about how can we deliver some of these 

alternative access points. 

 

 And when you look at the accessibility of the location, some of those 20 

issues relate to, particularly for in the centre where you have got 

potential access to PT, another option’s available. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  All right, that is helpful.  Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 25 

SJH:  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Sir, one question, please.  The threshold for activities 

which are not covered by – under J in table 7.1, is a thousand heavy 

vehicle trips per day, it is for a full integrated transport assessment.  In 30 

a case of quarry that is a large volume of stone, I think somewhere in 

the two to three million pounds, that is quite a big volume, so I would 

have thought that most quarries in Christchurch would fall outside that 

criteria? 

 35 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

MR RICHARDS:   I didn’t actually present the evidence on the thresholds that 

is Mr Clark, but I just like to comment on the quarries, there is a 

twostep approach, I think we got to think about ones within a quarry 40 

zone and what happens outside of those when they need a consent the 

other way.   

 

 The other side of life with the quarries as well is those aggregates are 

required, particularly or rebuild, for buildings and infrastructure 45 

throughout the area.  So I think there is been a fine balance in trying to 
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reach a conclusion about how we deal with quarries, and I think that is 

what the Councils were trying to address.   

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, well the net affect of quarries would be a lot 

greater than, for instance a shopping mall, wouldn’t they because 5 

presumably the heavy transport goes almost everywhere because that is 

where the construction is?   

 

MR RICHARDS:   It depends on where the site is and where the construction 

activity takes place, indeed, and some of those actually don’t enter the 10 

urban area, so for instances if you  providing say the western Belfast, it 

actually will - - -  

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Go the other way.   

 15 

MR RICHARDS:   It will skirt around the outside of town rather than go 

through it – there are issues related to the heavies that come from the 

quarries which is more about maintenance of the local roads, once 

again, the scale roads, I don’t think there is any great issues with those, 

it is actual the impact of the heavies going up and down on the smaller 20 

rural roads.   

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   But the NZTA is happy with a controlled activity for 

activities which don’t access directly on the State Highway? 

 25 

MR RICHARDS:   I think that is on the basis that we are trying to reduce this 

site friction as much as we can, and obviously if Styx isn’t a State 

Highway, there may be a reason to say, “Actually this is not the best 

place to do this”.   

 30 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Some operations could be quite close to the State 

Highway but come off another road, couldn’t they? 

 

MR RICHARDS:   That is correct.   

 35 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  Okay, thank you.   

 

SJH:  The Northern Arterial has been planned in conjunction with the city’s 

responsibility from Queen Elizabeth Drive down into Cranford Street? 

 40 

MR RICHARDS:  That is right.   

 

SJH:  How long has it been on the books? 

 

MR RICHARDS:  The original designation for ourselves, has been on the – I 45 

think since the 70s, I could be incorrect there – the actual extension that 
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we sought through this process, the current designation is pretty recent, 

it is part of the Roads of National Significance programme so that is 

where it really drives from at the moment.   

 

SJH:  We have heard evidence in both residential and the commercial and 5 

industrial chapter of significant development in northwest 

Christchurch, and we were told by a number of submitters that we 

needn’t worry because the Northern Arterial will be complete and 

traffic won’t be an issue by the time they get into the construction 

phase.   10 

 

 Is there potential for NZTA because of the Council decision to delay or 

defer or not go ahead with the Northern Arterial? 

 

MR RICHARDS:   I can’t pre-empt my board, but at the moment it is - - -  15 

 

SJH:   I said “potential”.   

 

MR RICHARDS:   Potential – I think this is the part of the discussion that 

needs to take place with the Council about how we can move this 20 

forward.  The Agency’s position at the moment is that it is still going 

ahead as far as we are concerned, now we just need to work out how 

we deal with the downstream effects.   

 

SJH:   Okay.   25 

 

MR RICHARDS:  Just to add to that, the actual road as it comes down hits 

QEII Drive and it goes around, I mean that still delivers great benefits 

for us for moving freights away from town, to get it round to the port 

from the north, it is more about the local - - -  30 

 

SJH:   It will take them off Marshlands Road as well.   

 

MR RICHARDS:  That is the idea.   

 35 

SJH:   No, I understand that, it is the other extension of it that - - -  

 

MR RICHARDS:  That is the problem.   

 

SJH:  Because do you know how much of that traffic is going to head off to 40 

Lyttelton and be freight and how much is going to the central city? 

 

MR RICHARDS:  I think that evidence may have been presented to the 

hearing on the NOR, but I don’t have that in front of me.   

 45 
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SJH:  Okay, that is fine.  Mrs McIndoe, anything arising from the Panel’s 

questions? 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS McINDOE [2.35 pm] 

 5 

MS McINDOE:   There is just one matter arising from Dr Mitchell’s questions 

and that is primarily because Mr Richards didn’t have in front of him a 

full set of the documents – I wonder if it might be possible for the 

Secretariat to bring back up the – there was a flow chart and 

immediately following the flow chart was a table and then text of the 10 

assessment matters and I am wondering if these might have been able 

to help with your questions that Dr Mitchell had about how an 

integrated transport assessment might encompass matters relating to 

modal choice – anymore assistance now you have the - - -  

 15 

MR RICHARDS:   Yes.   

 

MS McINDOE:   - - - full test of the document in front of you? 

 

MR RICHARDS:   I mean I look particularly straight to design and layout 20 

which makes specific reference to encouraging public and active 

transport use, through the design and layout of the site, that includes 

facilities where they need to be provided but also I think it is one of 

those things where you can actually layout a site where, instead of 

sticking the public transport access to the rear of a site, round by the 25 

loading yards, which where I use to put the cross quite a few times, it 

actually brings it more to the fore, so you know people who are using 

PT aren’t going through the less attractive approaches to areas.   

 

 There is other things in there as well, if you start thinking about how 30 

the parking reduction factors kick in, some of that is a balance, we 

talked about the “carrot and the stick”, but I think this is a balance 

between how you actually deliver some of your parking compared to 

some of your active modes.   

 35 

 And again when we look at the accessibility of the location which is the 

key one as well, so in the centre you have got public transport services 

already existing, you have got potential for shared trips, you got 

intensification going on around the area.   

 40 

 So I think those are the key ones really, number 3 and number 6 but 

also using number 4 as part of that equation.   

 

MS McINDOE:  Okay, no further questions.   

 45 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you, very much you my stand down.   
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DR MITCHELL:   Can I just - - -  

 

SJH:   Oh, sorry.   

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - ask a question that arises out of that question, if that is 

acceptable?  

 

 Just in terms of three though, whether the design and layout – I think 

there is a “the” missing – of the proposed activity, minimises the need 10 

to travel by private vehicles, well the way to achieve that is to provide 

no car parks at all presumably? 

 

MR RICHARDS:   That is an absolute – I don’t think that is what that is trying 

to - - -  15 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Does that need to be qualified in some way, actively 

minimises – sorry, activity minimises the need to travel, how do you 

define what - - -  

 20 

MS McINDOE:   Sorry, to interrupt - - -  

 

MR RICHARDS:   I was just going to defer to Ms McLeod on this point.   

 

DR MITCHELL:  All right, I am happy to leave it there, but I would rather 25 

raise it now so Ms McLeod can think about it.   

 

MS McINDOE:  And if I can assist, the 26th June memorandum which 

attached some revised documents, it actually suggests replacing the 

word “minimises” with “reduces” and so may have anticipated your 30 

concern, I am sure that Ms McLeod can answer questions you have 

about these too.   

 

DR MITCHELL:  All right, thank you, sir.   

 35 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Richards, and thank you, we will adjourn till 10.00 am, 

thank you.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.38 pm] 

 40 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 2.38 PM UNTIL 

TUESDAY, 30 JUNE 2015 

 


